

Student Final Report No. 7783

February 2015

Determining the Organisms, Pathways of Infection and Risks for Ovine Mastitis



February 2015

# **Student Final Report No. 7783**

# Determining the Organisms, Pathways of Infection and Risks for Ovine Mastitis

Selin Cooper

University of Warwick

Supervisor: Prof Laura Green, Dr Kevin Purdy

# This is the final report of a PhD project (AHDB Beef and Lamb Ref: 7783) that ran from March 2011 to February 2015. The work was funded by AHDB Beef and Lamb.

While the Agriculture and Horticulture Development Board, operating through its AHDB Beef and Lamb division, seeks to ensure that the information contained within this document is accurate at the time of printing, no warranty is given in respect thereof and, to the maximum extent permitted by law, the Agriculture and Horticulture Development Board accepts no liability for loss, damage or injury howsoever caused (including that caused by negligence) or suffered directly or indirectly in relation to information and opinions contained in or omitted from this document.

Reference herein to trade names and proprietary products without stating that they are protected does not imply that they may be regarded as unprotected and thus free for general use. No endorsement of named products is intended, nor is any criticism implied of other alternative, but unnamed, products.

AHDB Beef and Lamb is the beef and lamb division of the Agriculture and Horticulture Development Board for levy payers in England.

# CONTENTS

1.	ABSTRACT	4
2.		6
3.	MATERIALS AND METHODS	22
1.1.5.	Flock and animals	24
1.1.6.	Sampling	24
1.1.7.	Swab and milk sample storage	25
1.1.8.	Growth and selection of isolates from agar plates	25
1.1.9.	Isolate culturing and storage	27
1.1.10.	Matrix-assisted laser desorption/ionisation time-of-flight mass	
spectrometry	y analysis of isolates	28
1.1.11.	Pulsed field gel electrophoresis	30
1.1.12.	Data management	37
1.1.13.	Flock and animals	37
1.1.14.	Sampling	37
1.1.15.	Growth and selection of isolates from agar plates	38
1.1.16.	Matrix-assisted laser desorption/ionisation time-of-flight mass	
spectrometry	y 39	
1.1.17.	Data management	39
1.1.18.	Flock & Ewe Selection	41
1.1.19.	Data collection	41
1.1.20.	Data summary and analyses	43
4.	RESULTS	43
5.	INDUSTRY MESSAGES	47
6.	REFERENCES	47

# 1. Abstract

The aims of the first study were to estimate the incidence rate of clinical mastitis (IRCM) for suckler ewes (ewes rearing lambs for meat production) in England and to identify potential risk factors. A postal questionnaire was sent to 999 randomly selected English sheep farmers in 2010 to gather data on the IRCM and flock management practices for the calendar year 2009. The mean IRCM per flock was 1.2 / 100 ewes / flock / year (0.0-19.1). The IRCM was 2.0, 0.9 and 1.3 / 100 ewes / year for flocks that were always housed, always outdoors and a combination of both respectively. Six mixed effects over-dispersed Poisson regression models offset by flock size were developed to identify management practices associated with IRCM. Of particular interest were environmental factors, as indicated by the affect flooring and indoor versus outdoor rearing had on the IRCM, and host susceptibility as indicated by the association of IRCM with udder conformation (a potentially heritable trait). Based on these findings, the role of the environment was first considered by investigating the potential sources of mastitis-causing pathogens. Milk samples and udder skin swabs were taken from 27 pedigree Texel ewes with clinical mastitis and 3 ewes showing no clinical signs in order to identify whether udder skin could act as a bacterial reservoir for intramammary infections. Matrix assisted laser desorption/ionization time-of-flight mass spectrometry (MALDI-ToF-MS) was used to identify isolates to species level and compared to pulsed-field gel electrophoresis (PFGE) to assess the capabilities of MALDI-ToF-MS as a strain differentiation tool. MALDI-ToF-MS had good correspondence with PFGE for all species tested in this study including Staphylococcus warneri, Staphylococcus equorum, Rhodococcus corprophilus, Bacillus pumilus and Micrococcus luteus. The same strain type was found in mastitic milk and on ewe udder skin for Staphylococcus warneri and Rhodococcus corprophilus indicating a possible reservoir of bacteria that might enter the mammary gland. The third study built upon the findings from the second study by identifying the role of lamb mouths and ewe udder skin as potential transmission pathways of mastitis causing bacteria by sampling these environments and ewe milk over time in a longitudinal study of 21 ewes over 10 weeks. Twentysix bacterial species were found in more than one location (lamb mouth, ewe udder skin and/or ewe milk), many of which have previously been associated with mastitis. Potential transmission events and persistence of the same bacterial strains between and within lamb mouths, ewe udder skin and/or ewe milk over time were identified for the first time in suckler ewes using MALDI-ToF-MS for a variety of bacterial species. Having identified udder conformation as the most significant factor associated with IRCM in the first study, the final study aimed to investigate whether udder and teat conformation are heritable traits that affect mastitis. A total of 968 records were collected from 10 Texel flocks over a period of 3 years (2012-2014) from England, Wales and Scotland to assess whether udder and teat conformation were heritable traits associated with higher levels of chronic mastitis. Univariate quantitative genetic parameters were estimated using individual

animal and sire models. The heritabilities for teat length and teat placement were greatest (0.42 and 0.35, respectively). The remaining traits (traits that generally describe the volume of the xv udder) were of moderate to low heritability. Univariable logistic regression was used to identify the phenotypic association between udder traits and chronic mastitis. The work in this thesis has addressed several gaps in the knowledge in mastitis epidemiology by providing the first estimate for the IRCM in suckler flocks in England, and generating hypotheses for factors that may affect the IRCM. The role of the ewe's environment and heritable traits that could potentially affect a ewe's likelihood of getting mastitis were subsequently investigated. The results have contributed to our understanding of the factors associated with the development of mastitis.

# 2. Introduction

Endemic diseases such as mastitis result in both a direct and indirect economic loss for the industry. In both ewes kept to produce milk (hereafter dairy ewes) and in ewes kept to produce lambs for human consumption (hereafter suckler ewes), costs of diagnosis, treatments, preventive measures, labour, carcass disposal, and ewe replacements result in substantial economic loss (Hogeveen et al. 2011, PinzónSánchez et al. 2011). In dairy ewes, decreased milk yield, by up to 55% (Saratsis et al. 1999), downgrading of milk due to high somatic cell counts (SCC) and higher bacterial counts contribute to the economic losses attributed to mastitis (Fthenakis & Jones 1990a). In suckler ewes, costs occur through decreased live-weight gain of lambs, and loss of lambs that would have been reared by the affected ewe. In addition, lamb performance is decreased in lambs whose mothers have subclinical mastitis, due to decreased milk production (Fthenakis & Jones 1990a, Keisler et al. 1992), and changes in suckling behaviour (Gougoulis et al. 2008a), which is particularly important in suckler flocks. In a recent study of 67 ewes followed through lactation, lower lamb growth rates were associated with an increase in the dams somatic cell count (>400,000 cells/ml) (Huntley et al. 2012). Improvement in the management and therefore prevalence of mastitis would benefit the health and welfare of sheep and lambs and help to reduce economic losses. An accurate estimate for the cost of mastitis to the UK sheep industry is not available, because costing farm animal disease is complex (Conington et al. 2008). Using computer models of flock dynamics, however, a 10% decrease in the risk of contracting mastitis (through control methods) has been estimated to be worth £8.40 per ewe in the Texel breed (Conington et al. 2008). In cows, the economic losses attributed to mastitis are estimated to be between €61 and €97 per cow-year based on dynamic programming models and herd-simulation models, respectively (Bar et al. 2008, Hagnestam-Nielsen & Østergaard 2009). There are, however, methods that can reduce the economic effect of mastitis on a flock, for example by supplementing 2 lamb feed in suckler flocks with mastitis in order to compensate for the reduction in milk yield. This would reduce the effect of mastitis on lamb performance (Keisler et al. 1992). 1.1.Mastitis: an overview Mastitis is defined as an infection of the mammary gland primarily caused by bacteria that result in inflammation of the mammary gland tissue (Khan & Khan 2006). Mastitis can also be caused by viral infections, trauma, allergies, and physiological and metabolic changes (Bergonier et al. 2003). Ewes that have mastitis may experience discomfort and pain in the udder, or be systemically sick or die. Mastitis has typically been categorised as clinical (CM), where an animal has overt clinical signs, or subclinical (SCM), where clinical signs are absent. Clinical mastitis is typically classified as per-acute, acute or chronic and may be severe or mild. It can result in death, visible swelling of the udder, abnormal discharge from or pain in the udder, milk composition modifications (Firat 1993, Gonzalez et al. 1990, Hovinen et al. 2008, Klaas et al. 2004), lethargy, weight loss and

increased rectal temperature (Arsenault et al. 2008). Farmers often diagnose acute clinical mastitis in sheep using whole animal signs such as lethargy or malaise or behavioural changes such as lameness, or kicking away sucking lambs. Typically, 3 clinically affected udder halves do not return to normal function (Mørk et al. 2007). Chronic mastitis is often detected when farmers palpate ewes' udders at weaning when deciding whether or not to retain a ewe for breeding. Subclinical mastitis can lead to a reduction in milk yield and altered milk composition (Bergonier & Berthelot 2003, Conington et al. 2008, Fthenakis & Jones 1990a). In sheep, there is no universally accepted definition of subclinical mastitis with no established 'normal' somatic cell count and as such different studies may define cases differently. Clinical and subclinical mastitis are fairly rigid classifications of disease, and it can be argued that there is a single udder disease in sheep, caused by a variety of bacteria, with different clinical manifestations. These categorisations depend very much on the degree of inspection given to an animal. In suckler ewes it is quite likely that changes in the milk alone are not detected by farmers and so these fall into the category of subclinical infection. In milk sheep and dairy cows such changes would be detected because the udder and milk are inspected twice each day. It is thus important to consider mastitis as a spectrum from infection to disease that shifts the status of the udder from healthy to diseased. To date, much of the research on mastitis has tended to focus on causative species and clinical signs, due to technical limitations in strain differentiation methods. Therefore we do not have a clear understanding of the dynamics of the disease, specifically how and when ewe's udders become infected with pathogenic strains. 1.1.1. Detection of mastitis The ability to detect cases, to identify accurately the causative bacteria to a suitable level, enables rapid intervention and the use of appropriate treatment (Ghebremedhin et al. 2008). Key methods of detection include visual observation of the ewe and udder, bacterial culture of milk samples, the California Mastitis Test (CMT), the Whiteside Test (WST), flow cytometry (FCM), and measurement of somatic cell count (SCC). Traditionally bacterial culture has been used to identify the causative agents of mastitis. Identification is normally based initially on fast and simple tests such as 4 Gram staining, catalase and oxidase tests, with secondary phenotypic tests used to complete the identification (Carbonnelle et al. 2011, Sintchenko et al. 2007). Bacterial culture was considered fast, accurate, and low cost for many decades; the gold standard for the identification of bacteria to at least genus if not species level (Ghorbanpoor et al. 2007). In recent years, ongoing revolution in bacteriology by means of molecular rather than phenotypic methods have deemed these tests labour intensive, slow, imprecise on occasion, and expensive (Carbonnelle et al. 2011, Ghorbanpoor et al. 2007). Somatic cell count is the number of somatic cells present per millilitre of milk (cells/ml) (Lafi 2006). Somatic cells are comprised of neutrophils, macrophages and ewe epithelial cells (Oviedo-Boyso et al. 2007). When the udder half is infected with bacteria, inflammation is triggered and the number of neutrophils recruited to the udder rises rapidly. This increases the somatic cell count which can be counted by Coulter or

Foss counters and is used to detect cases of subclinical or clinical mastitis in dairy cows. The somatic cell count gives an indication of whether an immune response has begun and when measured at regular intervals can indicate the timing and extent of this immune response and has been used in cows and sheep (GonzálezRodríGuez et al. 1995, Rupp & Boichard 2000). It should be noted that the somatic cell count is influenced by other factors aside from infection stage and pathogen such as physiological status of the animal, lactation stage, and milk yield. The distributions of somatic cell count between ewes with different udder health infection statuses overlap and therefore is it difficult to define a somatic cell count threshold for mastitis (Carta et al. 2009). However, a somatic cell count of >200,000 cells/ml is considered to be a rational threshold for the presence of bacterial infection in cows based on research on somatic cell counts of cows with and without mastitis (Dohoo & Meek 1982, Green et al. 2006, Madouasse et al. 2010). There is as yet no accepted somatic cell count threshold for the detection of infection in the udder of sheep. Whilst there is little regulation of the somatic cell count in sheep milk produced commercially, the EU legal limit for raw goat or sheep milk intended for manufacture of dairy produce is 500 x 103 cells/ml (European Commission 1992). 5 Although an increased somatic cell count can be used as a proxy for bacterial infection, there is some debate over how low somatic cell counts can affect an animal's susceptibility to mastitis. Research has indicated a non-linear relationship between somatic cell count and the odds for clinical mastitis in cows (Peeler et al. 2003). The importance of somatic cells in the protection of the udder against clinical mastitis has become apparent (Peeler et al. 2003) with low herd bulk milk somatic cell counts resulting in cows being at an increased risk of toxic mastitis (Green et al. 1996). Somatic cell count also varies depending on the bacterial species isolated from the infected udder half which makes using somatic cell count as a linear indicator of bacterial infection in the udder complicated (González-RodríGuez et al. 1995, Peeler et al. 2003). Ideally a combination of detection methods, for example somatic cell count and bacterial identification should be used in order to diagnose and effectively treat the infection. 1.1.2. Treatment and prevention of mastitis Early detection of mastitis is necessary to improve treatment success. If detection and therefore treatment is too late, it may not save the affected udder half or the ewe. Ewes with mastitis are usually treated or culled. Treatment for clinical mastitis is often an intramuscular antibiotic, although it is not used by all farmers due to the expense. Animals may also be re-infected after treatment and recovery. In order for antibiotics to be effective, information about the aetiology, history of clinical or subclinical mastitis cases and parity are useful, but are not always available (PinzónSánchez & Ruegg 2011). In addition, antibiotics are occasionally ineffective in controlling infections caused by certain bacteria resulting in reservoirs of bacteria within a herd or flock that results in chronic and/or persistent infections (Pellegrino et al. 2010). Prevention of mastitis altogether is unlikely; it would be unrealistic to expect a single prevention protocol to be effective for all mastitis cases, due to the multifactorial nature of the disease and the numerous causative

agents. However, advancing our understanding of mastitis, including identifying risk factors for mastitis, the methods by which causative agents gain access to the udder and the pathway of infection may 6 allow improvements in management practices, or preventative measures that can be used to reduce the levels of infection in a flock. Control strategies target sources and transmission. In order to control sources, existing infection must be removed through the culling of ewes with clinical mastitis, or through intramammary antibiotics during the dry period (dry-ewe therapy) for ewes with subclinical mastitis (Bergonier & Berthelot 2003, Gonzalo et al. 2005, Kiossis et al. 2007). Effective management practices can also be used to control disease transmission. Milking machine standards should be met; regular maintenance of milking machinery to reduce traumatic damage to the udder must be implemented. Gonzalo et al., (2005) found that udder health (by proxy of bulk tank somatic cell count) could be improved by optimising milking machine standards, for example by having reduced vacuum levels and elevated pulsation rate during machine milking (Gonzalo et al. 2005). Milking machinery and/or milkers' hands should also be cleaned thoroughly to reduce the likelihood of spread of contagious bacteria. Management practices such as teat dipping are regularly used in order to prevent new intramammary infections (Fox 1992, Neave et al. 1969, Philpot & Pankey Jr 1975). These management practices generally relate to dairy animals; there is a lack of information on effective management practices to control disease transmission in suckler ewes. In line with finding preventive measures to control mastitis, breeding for resistance is a long-term strategy that may reduce mastitis prevalence in sheep. Despite the accumulation of research on the genetic element of mastitis in cattle, little has been carried out on heritable traits that are associated with mastitis in sheep and even these focus on dairy rather than suckler ewes. This has resulted in a tendency to select towards traits that are profitable for dairy ewes if any, such as milk yield, rather than away from mastitis. Selecting for increased genetic resistance to mastitis tends to be indirectly through the prediction of health status of the udder based on inflammatory factors such as somatic cell count. Utilising direct selection- relating to the diagnosis of infection such as bacteriological examination and or observation of clinical cases is unusual in 7 genetics studies due to the large amount of records required for robust modelling. However, a genetic correlation between somatic cell count and udder infection status (using bacteriological analyses) was found (0.93) (Tolone et al. 2013). This would indicate that a reduction in somatic cell count could result in a reduction in mastitis incidence. This has been shown in a study of 2 lines of Lacaune ewes divergently selected for somatic cell count which showed that selecting for a reduction in somatic cell count lead to increased resilience to intramammary infections. This included lower incidence of clinical mastitis, prevalence of chronic (as indicated by mammary abscesses) and subclinical intramammary infections, and a better ability to recover from infections (Rupp et al. 2009). However it must be noted that selecting for low somatic cell count could damage the ability of the animal to initiate an appropriate immune response to pathogens and therefore resist infection.

Using repeatability test-day models, somatic cell count heritability estimates have ranged from 0.04 to 0.16 (Baro et al. 1994, El-Saied et al. 1998, Hamann et al. 2004, Othmane et al. 2002, Riggio et al. 2007, Serrano et al. 2003) and 0.11 to 0.18 for the average somatic cell count during lactation (Barillet et al. 2008, Barillet et al. 2001, Legarra & Ugarte 2005, Mavrogenis et al. 1999, Rupp et al. 2003). In parallel with cattle, the association between genetic and phenotypic factors (specifically udder conformation) and mastitis in dairy ewes (Casu et al. 2010, Legarra & Ugarte 2005, Marie-Etancelin et al. 2005) has been shown. In a study of 7558 records from 2262 primiparous ewes, the somatic cell count increased as cistern height increased and degree of separation and udder depth decreased. The genetic correlations between somatic cell count and udder depth, teat placement and degree of suspension were favourable (0.39-0.50) apart from for degree of separation (0.05). The heritability estimates for udder traits ranged from 0.32 to 0.50 (Casu et al. 2010). In a study of 82019 primiparous ewes from 352 flocks, the genetic correlations among udder traits were moderate to high (0.14-0.49) and between the estimated breeding values (EBVs) for somatic cell count and udder-type traits were weak but favourable (0.1-0.2). The heritability estimates were slightly lower (0.19- 0.33) (Marie-Etancelin et al. 2005) than those found by Casu et al., 2010. The same pattern was found in a study of Laxta sheep, whereby the genetic correlations among udder traits were moderate for all traits (0.34-0.58) apart from 8 teat size (0.05-0.31). Genetic correlations between somatic cell counts ranged from 0.01 for teat placement to 0.29 for teat size. The heritability estimates ranged from 0.26 to 0.40 (Legarra & Ugarte 2005). The effect of udder conformation traits on somatic cell count has been shown in a recent study cohort study of 67 suckler ewes, where pendulous udders and greater crosssectional area of the teats were associated with an increase in somatic cell count (Huntley et al. 2012). Previous studies have indicated some udder conformation traits (in particular teat placement) have high repeatability within (de la Fuente et al. 2011, Fernández et al. 1995) and across lactation (de la Fuente et al. 2011) whilst others relating to udder size and therefore milk yield were affected by lactation and flock (Serrano et al. 2002). These traits also had lower heritability (Serrano et al. 2002). These traits are likely to be associated with mastitis due to affecting milk production, milk let down and suckling ease (Huntley et al. 2012). Based on the studies discussed, selection based on udder morphology traits could potentially result in improved resilience against mastitis. 1.2. Epidemiology of mastitis Several studies have identified a range of clinical and subclinical incidence and prevalence rates across the world (Table 1.1). The only estimate for the incidence of clinical mastitis in suckler ewes was 1.2% in Canada, whereas the prevalence of subclinical mastitis was between 9.2-50.0%. The only estimate for the prevalence of subclinical mastitis in suckler ewes in England is 11.7%. There is no incidence rate for clinical mastitis for suckler ewes in England. 9 Table 1.1: Worldwide incidence and prevalence rates of clinical and subclinical mastitis in flocks of sheep. Location Flock Size of study Mastitis classification Prevalence Incidence Reference Wales Suckler 8 flocks, 1093 ewes Subclinical

14.0% (Watson et al. 1990) England Suckler 7 flocks, 358 ewes Subclinical 11.7% (Watkins et al. 1991) USA Suckler 2 groups of 49 and 79 ewes Subclinical 17-50% depending on methods (Keisler et al. 1992) Spain Dairy 433 ewes Subclinical 36.7% (de la Cruz et al. 1994) Greece Dairy 760 ewes Subclinical 10.9 % (Fthenakis 1994) Greece Suckler 5 flocks Subclinical 29-43% (Stefanakis et al. 1995) USA Dairy 62 ewes Clinical 29% (Kirk et al. 1996) Jordan Suckler 12 flocks, 318 ewes Subclinical 18.3% (Al-Majali & Jawabreh 2003) Greece Experimental 2 flocks, 98 ewes Subclinical 8.3% (Fthenakis et al. 1998) 10 Location Flock Size of study Mastitis classification Prevalence Incidence Reference Jordan Mixed 46 flocks, 1736 ewes NA 29.8% (subclinical) 1.7 cases per 100 ewemonths (clinical) (Lafi et al. 1998) Spain Dairy 22 flocks, 564 ewes Subclinical 34% (Las Heras et al. 2002) Iran Dairy 178 ewes Subclinical 39.0% (Batavani et al. 2003) Greece Dairy 130 ewes Clinical and subclinical 94.0% (Fthenakis et al. 2004) Greece Dairy 140 ewes Subclinical 5.7-15.6% (control group) (Kiossis et al. 2007) Norway Mixed 353 flocks, 509 ewes Clinical (Mørk et al. 2007) Canada Suckler 30 flocks, 2792 ewes Clinical 1.2% (Arsenault et al. 2008) Azerbaijan Suckler 12 flocks, 260 ewes Subclinical 9.2% (Beheshti et al. 2010) Italy Dairy 2198 ewes Clinical 75.0% (clinical) (Marogna et al. 2010) 11 1.3. Risk factors associated with mastitis Time in lactation is associated with mastitis; Fthenakis (1994) found that the prevalence of subclinical mastitis increased as the lactation period proceeded. However, the prevalence of subclinical mastitis is particularly difficult to measure as it depends on the degree of inspection given to an animal. In suckler ewes, clinical cases often peak during the first week after lambing (Lafi 2006). In a study of 509 ewes in Norway, one third developed clinical mastitis in the first week. A second peak was also observed at three weeks (Mørk et al. 2007). Reviewers have suggested that the rationale behind these peaks in cases of mastitis include; 1. Milk accumulation in the cistern at peak lactation may act as a reservoir for pathogens (Winter 2001). 2. Rapid lamb growth may cause lambs to nurse aggressively, butting the udder and damaging teats, leaving them susceptible to bacterial infection (Winter 2001). Alternatively, the onset of lactation triggers mastitis because sheep may already have bacteria colonised in the udder, and when there is a change, either in the ewe or the environment, such as the onset of lactation, the infection becomes a detectable disease. It is also possible that functions of pregnancy and lactation are prioritised over the expression of immunity and hence reduced energy availability during these periods would compromise the immunity of the ewe (Coop & Kyriazakis 1999). Larsgard and Vaabenoe (1993) following 920 ewes over 6 years, identified several factors associated with mastitis in Norwegian sheep including the number of lambs born, breed, udder conformation, type of pasture and milk yield (shown through growth of lambs). Whilst age did not have an effect on the risk of mastitis, affected ewes were culled before the next season, which may have biased the results (Larsgard & Vaabenoe 1993). The two most recent articles to be published on risk factors for mastitis are also the most relevant, both focusing on suckler ewes. Despite the differences in country, 12 both produced similar results. Waage and Vatn (2008)

identified individual animal risk factors for ovine clinical mastitis in suckler ewes in Norway. In 1056 flocks, the total number of lambs born per ewe, ewe age, breed, whether assistance at lambing was required, mastitis in a previous lactation and the presence and degree of teat lesions were identified as risk factors for mastitis (Waage & Vatn 2008). In a study of 2792 ewes from 30 commercial suckler flocks in Canada, the risk factors for clinical mastitis were region, ewe age, body condition score, whether ewes had had mastitis previously and the number of lambs born per ewe (Arsenault et al. 2008). In agreement with these studies, it was suggested that ewes rearing more than one lamb are more likely to suffer from mastitis (Gross et al. 1978, Watkins et al. 1991). This may be a result of ewes rearing more than one lamb being more susceptible to lesions caused by lambs due to the cumulative stress on the mammary tissue (Lafi et al. 1998). Several previous studies have identified a link between age and mastitis, with older ewes being more susceptible (Arsenault et al. 2008, Gross et al. 1978, Watkins et al. 1991). Damage to the udder from previous lambs might also make older ewes more susceptible to mastitis (Lafi et al. 1998). It appears that there is a balance between ewe factors (predisposing conditions, existing trauma, lowered immunity and nutrition), the species of pathogen and the environment that affects the likelihood of the development of mastitis. 1.4. Aetiology of mastitis Over 130 different organisms have been associated with infection of the bovine mammary gland (Watts 1988). It is probable that a similar number would be found in the ovine mammary gland. Many of the bacterial species that cause bovine mastitis can also be isolated from ovine mastitis cases. The complexity of mastitis is further highlighted when we consider not only species, but strain type. Strain types within a species can vary in pathogenicity and transmission pathway (Zadoks & Fitzpatrick 2009). The organisms are likely to come from the ewes' environment, such as other infected udders, replacement animals (contagious) and/or bedding, soil, water and manure (environmental). 13 In suckler ewes, bacteria commonly isolated from subclinical mastitis include coagulase-negative staphylococci (CNS), such as Staphylococcus epidermidis, Staphylococcus simulans, Staphylococcus chromogenes, and Staphylococcus xylosus (Fthenakis 1994). Staphylococcus aureus is also typically isolated from cases of subclinical mastitis in suckler ewes (Bergonier et al. 2003, Kiossis et al. 2007, Kirk et al. 1996, Mørk et al. 2007, Winter & Colditz 2002). Coagulase-negative staphylococci are also a common cause of subclinical mastitis in dairy ewes (Kirk et al. 1996, Mørk et al. 2007, Pengov 2001). Bacteria isolated from clinical mastitis cases include Staphylococcus aureus, Mannheimia haemolytica, Escherichia coli, Mycoplasma spp. (Bergonier & Berthelot 2003) and Streptococcus spp. (Fragkou et al. 2011, Fragkou et al. 2007c, Fragkou et al. 2007d, Las Heras et al. 2002) such as Streptococcus uberis (Marogna et al. 2010). In addition, a variety of other bacterial species have been associated with mastitis including: Actinomyces pyrogenes (Saratsis et al. 1998), Arcanobacterium pyogenes (Fthenakis 1994, Fthenakis et al. 2004), Bacillus spp. (Batavani et al. 2003, Fthenakis 1994), Burkholderia cepacia (Berriatua et al. 2001), Clostridium perfringens

(Osman et al. 2009), Corynebacterium spp. (Mavrogenis et al. 1995), in particular Corynebacterium bovis (Beheshti et al. 2010), Klebsiella pneumoniae (Bergonier & Berthelot 2003, Fthenakis & Jones 1990b), Listeria monocytogenes (Fthenakis et al. 1998), Pseudomonas aeruginos (Bergonier & Berthelot 2003) and Serratia marcescens (Tzora & Fthenakis 1998). The differences in isolated mastitis causing pathogens could be due to differences in management practices between dairy and suckler ewes. 1.4.1. Environmental and contagious pathogens Traditionally, mastitis pathogens have been classified as either environmental or contagious. However, the availability and reduced cost of molecular and DNA-based methods in mastitis research has resulted in an increased understanding of the transmission, reservoirs and persistence of bacterial strains that cause intramammary infections. Much like the classifications of clinical and subclinical mastitis, these classifications are too rigid and not perfect. Some pathogens, traditionally thought of only as 14 contagious, can also be environmental in origin. These infections would not be affected by the implementation of a control and prevention program aimed at contagious pathogens, indicating the importance of strain typing studies (Zadoks & Fitzpatrick 2009). Different strains may differ in their ability to infect an udder, spread from ewe to ewe, alter somatic cell count, impact milk yield and respond to antimicrobial treatments. 1.5. The defensive role of the mammary gland The mammary gland has anatomical features have could reduce the likelihood of pathogenic bacteria entering the teat duct. Sphincter muscles keep the teat canal tightly closed in order to prevent the entry of pathogens. The teat canal is lined with keratin, considered to be the first line of physical defence for the udder (Forbes 1970). It hinders the movement of bacteria up the teat canal and also contains antimicrobial agents (Sordillo & Streicher 2002). In an experimental study of dairy cows, where the keratin was partially removal from the teat canal, the ability of the teat canal to act as a protective anatomical feature against bacterial pathogens from the external environment was compromised (Capuco et al. 1992). In addition, the presence of induced subepithelial lymphoid tissue between the teat duct and teat cistern appeared to have a role in the protection of the mammary gland against the early stages of bacterial infection (Fragkou et al. 2010, Fragkou et al. 2007b). Although not playing a defensive role, udder conformation can increase or decrease a ewes susceptibility to mastitis based on reducing damage to the udder. In a study of 2251 ewes, udder conformation was associated with the risk of mastitis and increased somatic cell count. As the cistern height increased and the degree of udder suspension (the weakness of the suspensory ligament and how loose and pendulous the udder was) and udder depth (the depth of the udder from the abdominal wall to the udder cleft when viewed from behind) decreased, the risk of mastitis increased (Casu et al. 2010). Non-diseased mammary glands have bacteria colonising the udder and teat skin (Fragkou et al. 2007a), which may be a source of bacteria that could be transferred into the teat duct (Fragkou et al. 2011, Scott & Jones 1998). Interactions between the host's mammary defence system and the virulence of the invading pathogenic 15 bacteria determine

the severity and extent of infection and disease. In order to understand the pathogenesis of a multifactorial microbial disease such as mastitis, it is important to consider the microbiota of the udder skin, as well as the bacterial content in the milk and in particular temporal interactions between them. It has been postulated that entrance of a pathogen into the teat would not necessarily result in infection (Mavrogianni et al. 2006a). For example, some bacteria may enter the teat canal but subsequently be withdrawn during suckling (Gougoulis et al. 2008b). In an experimental study, Mannheimia haemolytica inoculated into the teat duct did not always cause clinical infection suggesting the protective role of the teat (Mavrogianni et al. 2005). In the sequel to that work, using the same experimental design including ewes with natural or experimentally generated lesions had pathogenic bacteria deposited into the teat duct, which resulted in the development of mastitis, unlike those ewes in the previous study without lesions (Mavrogianni et al. 2006b). It was postulated that Mannheimia haemolytica may form part of the teat duct bacterial community without resulting in infection, suggesting that this bacteria does not necessarily always cause mastitis and for mastitis to occur, it requires either excessive accumulation of the bacteria (Fragkou et al. 2007a) or previous injury to the teat, lowering the teats bacterial defences in sheep (Mavrogianni et al. 2006b). 1.6. Sources & transmission pathways of pathogenic bacteria There are three possible routes for bacteria to invade the mammary gland and cause infection: galactogenic route of entry (that is through the teat canal, with ascending infection), haemotogenous spread which would diffuse through mammary paranchyma, and percutaneous entry (wounds) (Meador 1988). There are also several reservoirs of bacteria that could cause mastitis, such as the lamb mouth, the ewe's udder skin or the environment, such as the bedding (Gougoulis et al. 2008b, Piccinini et al. 2009). Pathogenic bacteria are most likely to enter the udder half through the teat orifice, colonising the teat canal and cistern. Previous research on the transmission and persistence of mastitis causing bacteria from different environments of ewes is lacking. 16 1.6.1. Mouth & nasal cavities Mannheimia haemolytica has been isolated from the mouths of ewes and lambs, and the teat skin of pregnant and lactating ewes, which may invade the mammary gland during suckling (Fragkou et al. 2011, Scott & Jones 1998) and has been indicated as being transmitted to the teat duct during suckling, along with staphylococci in a study on the microbiota of the teat before and after suckling in ewes (Gougoulis et al. 2008b). Although healthy teat ducts provide an effective defence for bacteria transmitted from the lamb's mouth to the teat duct of the ewe, suckling is likely to increase the risk of infection by increasing the teats exposure to bacteria (Gougoulis et al. 2008b). Despite this indication, strain typing methods were not used in these studies and therefore transmission could not be confirmed. In addition, providing evidence for the transmission of an isolate from one environment to another is difficult; there is the possibility for a strain to mutate as it moves which could only be detected by single nucleotide polymorphisms (SNPs) rather than methods typically used for strain typing. Therefore whilst you would expect isolates involved in transmission to be

indistinguishable using strain typing methods, there is the possibility that they would not be, complicating the confirmation of a transmission pathway. In sheep, identical Staphylococcus aureus pulsotypes (using pulsed-field gel electrophoresis as the strain typing method) were identified from body sites and in the milk. In particular the majority of pairs of isolates from the nasal cavity of ewes and their lambs, twins and repeated sampling provided identical pulsotypes indicating transmission of Staphylococcus aureus between the dam and her lambs (Mørk et al. 2012b). However, this could also be due to the predominance of a particular strain type within these flocks, and therefore does not necessarily indicate that a transmission event occurred. This is the only study indicating a transmission route of mastitis causing bacteria between the dam and her lambs using a strain typing method in suckler ewes. 1.6.2. The milking environment Improper milking techniques can increase the likelihood of mastitis, due to the increased teat canal dilation time which allows bacteria to invade the teat (Gougoulis 17 et al. 2008b). Staphylococci have been thought to originate from milkers' hands or animal teat skin. Hand milking has been shown to increase the risk of bacterial colonisation of the teat, although only a small and non-significant increase in the risk of intramammary infection associated with hand milking has been shown (Mavrogianni et al. 2006c). 1.6.3. Bedding and dirt Bedding type has an effect on the number of coliforms and Klebsiella spp. found on teat ends (Zdanowicz et al. 2004), which is to be expected as cows lie down on the bedding, allowing bacteria to be transferred from the bedding material to the teat skin. In addition, it has been suggested that pathogens could be transmitted to milk via dirty udders and teats in cattle (Vissers et al. 2007). 1.6.4. Udder skin In dairy cows, potential reservoirs of Staphylococcus aureus have been identified; heifers with teat skin colonised by Staphylococcus aureus at parturition were more likely to have intramammary infections caused by Staphylococcus aureus at parturition (Roberson et al. 1994). In addition, using pulsed-field gel electrophoresis, the same pulsotypes of Staphylococcus aureus were identified from teat skin as in the milk in several studies (da Costa et al. 2014, Haveri et al. 2008, Zadoks et al. 2002). Pulsed-field gel electrophoresis has also been used to identify the same Staphylococcus aureus pulsotypes from body sites (particularly the hock skin), the immediate environment of lactating cows and milk samples previously (Capurro et al. 2010). A study with extramammary sites including dairy cow teat skin, teat canals, skin lesions, milking liners and the hands and nostrils of milking personnel in two dairy herds found indistinguishable Staphylococcus aureus pulsotypes for isolates infecting the mammary gland and extramammary sites, again indicating potential reservoirs of intramammary infections (Haveri et al. 2008). However, the direction of transmission could not be ascertained. 18 1.6.5. Teat lesions Teat bites could predispose intramammary infections due to removal of the acid mantle on the teat skin which could aid bacterial attachment (Sieber & Farnsworth 1984). In addition teat lesions could harbour bacteria, which could be transmitted up the teat canal during suckling. Authors have identified an association between Arcanobacterium pyogenes, Streptococcus dysgalactiae and teat lesions in

cows (Ericsson Unnerstad et al. 2009). 1.6.6. Teat apices Bacteria present on teat apices may have a different natural community to that of the rest of the udder due to suckling calves or lambs. The bacteria present on the teat duct may be advanced up the teat canal during suckling, unlike bacteria present on the udder. The teat duct could harbour bacteria, which could invade the mammary parenchyma, causing mastitis (Mavrogianni et al. 2006a). Klebsiella, streptococci and staphylococci have been isolated from the teat ends of dairy cows (Rendos et al. 1975). Lactococcus spp., yeasts and Pseudomonas spp. have also been isolated from dairy cow teats and udders, although there was no correlation between the level of Lactococcus spp. and yeasts in milk and on the teats and udders (Desmasures et al. 1997). Supré et al identified the same Staphylococcus devriesei strain from teat apices and the milk of dairy cows (Supré et al. 2010). In a study of 11 ewes, Mannheimia haemolytica was isolated from the teat duct only after suckling, indicating it had been transmitted to the teat duct during suckling by the lamb (Gougoulis et al. 2008b). Bacteria such as Staphylococcus chromogenes, Staphylococcus hyicus, and Staphylococcus aureus have been isolated from teat canal keratin and milk secretions. In addition, quarters from cows with teat canal colonisations of bacteria without a clinical intramammary infection had a higher somatic cell count than quarters from cows without teat canal colonisation and intramammary infections, suggesting the importance of teat canal colonisation on the health of the mammary gland (Trinidad et al. 1990). 19 1.6.7. Other potential reservoirs of mastitis-causing pathogens Strains of Staphylococcus aureus predominant on some farms were isolated from flies collected in the barns of lactating cows and milking equipment (Capurro et al. 2010). The infected udder gland is also a reservoir for transmission between individual udder halves (Mørk et al. 2007, Vautor et al. 2003). Although these studies provide accumulating evidence for reservoirs and transmission routes of pathogens associated with intramammary infections, molecular methods at the subspecies level over time are required in order to ascertain whether the isolates are the same strain type, therefore proving a transmission event has occurred. 1.7. The protective role of bacterial species In recent years, the potential protective role of coagulase-negative staphyloccci in mastitis in dairy cows has been a subject of debate, with contradictory results having been published. Some authors suggest that quarters infected with minor pathogens, such as coagulase-negative staphylococci are preventive for natural infections by major pathogens. (Rainard & Poutrel 1988, White et al. 2001). For example, in a challenge study, protective effects against Staphylococcus aureus infection were found using Staphylococcus chromogenes (Matthews et al. 1990). In vitro studies have supported this, showing the inhibition of Staphylococcus aureus and streptococci growth by Staphylococcus chromogenes (De Vliegher et al. 2004). Furthermore, some strains of coagulase-negative staphylococci were shown to inhibit the growth of Streptococcus agalactiae, possibly due to increased somatic cell count in the milk or antibacterial peptides produced by the bacteria (dos Santos Nascimento et al. 2005, Pyörälä & Taponen 2009). Conversely, studies have found that

heifers infected with coagulase-negative staphylococci pre-calving increased the risk for post calving infection with coagulase-negative staphylococci, Staphylococcus aureus or Streptococcus uberis (Compton et al. 2007, Parker et al. 2007). Alternatively, one study has shown that quarters infected with Staphylococcus spp. were less susceptible to experimental 20 challenge with certain species, such as Staphylococcus aureus, but more susceptible to Streptococcus agalactiae (Nickerson & Boddie 1994). Finally, some studies have shown no protective or predisposing role of coagulasenegative staphylococci in mastitis caused by Staphyloccocus aureus, or Streptococcus uberis (Hogan et al. 1988, Zadoks et al. 2001). 1.8. Persistence of infections in the mammary gland Whilst a great deal of research has identified sources of infection, little research has been done on the persistence of particular strains in the milk throughout lactation in cows once bacteria have penetrated the mammary gland. In addition, much of the research on ovine mastitis still leverages on bovine mastitis research. There is no research on the persistence of infections in sheep during the lactating or dry period. Different strains within a bacterial species can differ in pathogenicity and transmission routes, and therefore classification of isolates at the species level can incorrectly oversimplify control measures recommended, hence the need for longitudinal strain typing methods. 1.8.1. Infection persistence during lactation Recent studies have used strain typing techniques such as pulsedfield gel electrophoresis to isolate the same strain of bacteria from the same mammary guarter on more than one occasion indicating the persistence of the same infection over time with coagulase-negative staphylococci based on a study of 12412 milk samples from 3 dairy research herds (Gillespie et al. 2009). In fact, coagulase-negative staphylococci were shown to persist for up to 10 months (Gillespie et al. 2009). Escherichia coli has also been shown to persist in the bovine mammary gland in a study of 300 dairy cows, with an estimated occurrence of between 4.8% and 9.1% (Döpfer et al. 1999, Lam et al. 1996). In addition the occurrence of recurrent episodes of the same strain in any quarter in a cow is high (Döpfer et al. 1999), suggesting transmission between guarters, which could increase persistence of the strain. Lipman et al., (1995) also found persistence of the same Escherichia coli serotypes in the bovine mammary gland, although different methods (serotyping and DNA polymorphism patterns) were used. In addition, infection with Escherichia coli more than once in a lactation was infrequent (Lipman et al. 1995). Conversely, in a 21 study of 503 cows from 5 herds, guarters were often infected with multiple Streptococcus uberis strain types, despite the ability of Streptococcus uberis to persist in the udder (McDougall et al. 2004). This suggests that some pathogens have a superior mechanism of bacterial persistence than others. In fact, some pathogens such as Listeria moncytogenes, are able to persist in milking parlor environments which could be a source of reinfection (Ho et al. 2007). The ability of Staphylococcus aureus to produce biofilm could be why mastitis associated with this species of bacteria so often becomes chronic and persists. The role of exopolysaccharride (slime) in the colonization and virulence in bovine mastitis has been shown in cows (Cucarella et al. 2004). It is thought to be involved in the enhancement of initial attachment to epithelial cells and in the subsequent formation of micro-colonies, as has been shown for Escherichia coli strains (Chan et al. 1982). 1.8.2. The role of the dry period The bovine mammary gland is thought to be particularly susceptible to environmental coliform and streptococcal infections during the dry period (Larry Smith et al. 1985, Oliver & Mitchell 1983, Todhunter et al. 1995), including Streptococcus uberis (Todhunter et al. 1995) and Escherichia coli (Bradley & Green 2001, Döpfer et al. 1999, Lipman et al. 1995). Experimental studies have shown the ability of pathogens to remain within the udder, causing clinical disease after the onset of lactation (Bradley 2002, McDonald & Anderson 1981). Two studies in particular highlight the significance of the dry period in the persistence of mastitis causing pathogens. In a study of 629 cows from 6 commercial herds, samples were collected during the dry period and from clinical quarters of these cows during the subsequent lactation allowing comparisons to be made between these time periods. DNA fingerprinting showed the persistence of Enterobacteriaceae acquired during the dry period, causing disease after the onset of lactation (Bradley & Green 2000). One quarter remained persistently infected for >200 days before resulting in severe clinical mastitis (Bradley 2002). Of all the enterobacterial mastitis occurring in the first 100 days of lactation, 52.6% arose in guarters previously colonised with the same strain of 22 bacteria during the dry period (Bradley & Green 2000). This suggests that chronic infections should be considered and environmental management during the dry period is imperative in the control of environmental mastitis. Bradley and Green (2001) observed 6 commercial herds over a period of 12 months in order to identify changes in the behaviour of Escherichia coli. DNA fingerprinting allowed the identification of the genotypes of strains involved in recurrent cases of clinical Escherichia coli mastitis. In the majority of cases, the same genotype was implicated as the cause of disease in recurrent cases and often the same genotype was identified in different quarters of the same cow suggesting that the same genotype may persist in the mammary environment (for in excess of 100 days), causing recurring infections and that bacteria may be spread between quarters (Bradley & Green 2001). PCR based DNA fingerprinting identified the same Streptococcus uberis and Streptococcus dysgalactiae strain types from the same infected mammary glands from one lactation to the next, highlighting the persistence of these organisms through the dry period and during lactation (Oliver et al. 1998). Statistical modelling has been used to identify the relationship between intramammary infections during the dry period, and clinical mastitis in the next lactation. The probability of an udder quarter developing clinical mastitis increased when Streptococcus dysgalactiae, Enterococcus faecalis, Escherichia coli, or Enterobacter spp. were cultured at drying off. In addition, the risk of clinical mastitis caused by specific pathogens increased if they were cultured in 2 or more late dry and post calving samples. Interestingly, the time that an isolate was identified was important in whether it increased or decreased the risk of clinical mastitis development; Corynebacterium spp., when isolated at

drying off were associated with an increase, but when isolated in the late dry or post calving samples was associated with a reduction in the risk of clinical mastitis (Green et al. 2002). Although this study did not use strain typing to confirm the persistence of certain strains in the mammary gland, it provides evidence for the significance of the dry period on clinical mastitis development. 23 1.9. The importance of strain typing Throughout this review, strain typing has been shown to be important in studies of reservoirs, transmission and persistence. However the importance of strain typing is also highlighted when host responses are considered. Host responses to intramammary infections differ between pathogen species and strains (Zadoks & Fitzpatrick 2009). In particular, Staphylococcus aureus is particularly difficult to control due to its wide pattern of virulence factors such as leukotoxins, which can selectively destroy host polymorphonuclear leukocytes (PMN) and monocytes and secretion of exopolysaccharides and thermostable toxins (Craven & Williams 1985). As many as 30 extracellular products are produced by Staphylococcus aureus (Rogolsky 1979). This includes several toxins that contribute to the pathogenesis of mastitis (Rogolsky 1979). There also appears to be differences between the toxins produced by strains of Staphylococcus aureus that are isolated from ewes with subclinical mastitis and clinical mastitis. For example, toxins produced from Staphylococcus aureus isolates from sheep with subclinical mastitis were less enterotoxigenic than those from acute clinical cases (de Santis et al. 2005, Hamann 2005). 1.10.Methods used to understand mastitis 1.10.1. Molecular epidemiology In order to study disease in populations and identify factors that determine its occurrence, the integration of molecular biological techniques and epidemiologic research is required. Epidemiological research identifies incidence, prevalence and patterns of disease at the population level. A longitudinal study can be used to investigate an outcome and exposure variables over a period of time. Such studies are particularly useful to study the progression to an outcome of interest over time, providing temporal associations between the outcome and exposure variables. Causal associations can be deduced more robustly in a longitudinal study, with statistical evidence for these associations (Hill 1965). Such studies are also flexible and can test a variety of hypotheses simultaneously. However, longitudinal studies are expensive and time-consuming. In 24 addition, data that are collected repeatedly over time from the same individual result in clustered data that need to be managed during analysis. Different strains within a bacterial species can vary in terms of reservoir, transmission pathway, persistence and pathogenicity. Strain typing is therefore necessary to identify sources and transmission routes of mastitis-causing bacteria and to choose appropriate prevention and treatment measures. Although contributing to our understanding of mastitis, molecular epidemiological studies have not yet reached a stage where strain typing is time and cost effective enough to be used in real time to contribute to outbreak analysis and prevention and/or treatment options. Ideally, a method of strain typing that is rapid and cost effective is required in order for large numbers of samples from numerous animals to be analysed. 1.10.2.

Laboratory based techniques Culturing of bacteria There are a variety of methods used to identify mastitis causing pathogens. Traditional culture techniques are often the first step in identification of an isolate, in order to culture pure growth. Biochemical tests and Gram stains are often used to identify bacteria to the genus or species level. Polymerase Chain Reaction (PCR) amplification In the past, commercial kits differentiated species of bacteria based on specific biochemical reaction characteristics of each. These methods, however, were based on phenotypic reactions and often failed in the identification of different species of coagulase-negative staphylococci (Heikens et al. 2005). In order to overcome these issues, alternative identification methods based on molecular rather than phenotypic characteristics were explored. Several genomic targets have been used for the molecular identification of different bacterial species, most commonly the genes for 16s rRNA (Onni et al. 2010). The majority of mastitis causing pathogens in cows can now be detected based on PCR which detect the main species-specific DNA sequences. Techniques have been developed to identity a single species (uniplex) or multiple species simultaneously 25 (multiplex) (Gillespie & Oliver 2005, Phuektes et al. 2001, Riffon et al. 2001). Recent advances have resulted in a multiplex PCR to be developed for the simultaneous detection of up to 10 bovine mastitis pathogens (Shome et al. 2011) and is now being used to detect pathogens found in bulk tank milk samples (Boss et al. 2011). In sheep, coagulase-negative staphylococci have been identified from ovine milk samples via PCR amplification of the staphylococcal 16S rRNA and gap genes (Onni et al. 2010) whilst Staphylococcus aureus has been identified via PCRRestriction Fragment Length Polymorphism Analysis of the aroA Gene (Marcos et al. 1999). Both the biochemical and PCR methods described above can identify isolates to species level in some cases. However in order for multiple isolates to be identified to strain level, the following methods are most often used. Pulsed-field gel electrophoresis (PFGE) Pulsed-field gel electrophoresis is a method of typing an organisms based on fragment patterns produced by cleaving chromosomal DNA with restriction endonucleases. The bacterial genome is digested with a restriction enzyme that has relatively few recognition sites; generating fragments from 10-2000kb on the agarose gel unlike traditional gel electrophoresis whereby fragments of 0.5-25kb are resolved. Pulsed-field gel electrophoresis makes use of a current being applied in three directions to three electrodes, resulting in a higher level of fragment resolution (Vautor et al. 2005b). Multilocus sequence typing (MLST) Multilocus sequence typing (MLST) involves sequencing fragments of housekeeping genes (most commonly 7 housekeeping genes) from different strains of the same organism and comparing them. For each gene, a sequence of approximately 450bp is amplified (PCR) and then sequenced, which is presented in a dendrogram. Alleles at each locus based on nucleotide sequence are assigned. Multilocus sequence typing could be used to track a virulent strain of a bacterial pathogen as it moves through a population (Vautor et al. 2005b). 26 Matrix assisted laser desorption/ionization time-of-flight mass spectrometry (MALDI-TOF-MS) Matrix-assisted laser desorption/ionization-time of flight mass spectrometry (MALDI-TOF MS) is a relatively novel

ionization technique which allows the analysis of biomolecules. Co-precipitation of a UV-light absorbing matrix and a biomolecule is vaporized by a laser pulse. The matrix becomes ionized when it absorbs most of the laser energy (preventing unwanted fragmentation of the biomolecule). The energy is 'passed from the matrix' to the vaporized protein molecules which are accelerated in an electric field, drawn into the evaporation chamber into the mass spectrometer and are separated according to their mass to charge ratio by reaching the detector at different times. Each molecule yields a distinct signal (De Bruyne et al. 2011). MALDI-ToF-MS, due to its speed and low running costs, has the potential to replace conventional phenotypic identification. In addition, several recent studies have indicated MALDI-ToF-MS could be used for rapid strain differentiation and identification for Escherichia coli (Christner et al. 2014, Karger et al. 2011), Yersinia enterocolitica (Stephan et al. 2011), Salmonella enterica (Dieckmann & Malorny 2011), Clostridium difficile (Reil et al. 2011), Staphylococcus aureus (Boggs et al. 2012, Wolters et al. 2011), Propionibacterium acnes (Nagy et al. 2013), Listeria spp. (Barbuddhe et al. 2008), Leptospira spp. (Rettinger et al. 2012), Saccharomyces cerevisiae (Moothoo-Padayachie et al. 2013), Mycobacteria spp. (Hettick et al. 2006), and Arthrobacter spp. (Vargha et al. 2006). Due to the application of this method to strain typing being very recent, it is not typically used for strain typing studies and has not been used to support epidemiological studies. 27 1.10.3. Epidemiological techniques 'Epidemiology is the study of disease in populations and of factors that determine its occurrence' (Thrusfield 2013). Cross-sectional studies Cross-sectional studies allow the examination of the relationship between disease prevalence and exposure at a single point in time in a given population. The crosssectional study in this thesis utilises a questionnaire. Questionnaires are particularly useful when there is no previous information readily available on a subject. They are designed to record information in a standardised format and the aim is to achieve a high response rate. The advantages of using a postal questionnaire include a wide coverage of a population and the fact that they are quick to administer and avoid interview bias. However, there is no way to check if a question is misunderstood. A pilot study can ensure that questions are understood, and if not feedback can expose defects in the questionnaire that can be amended (Thrusfield 2013). The advantages of using a cross-sectional study to examine the risk factors of mastitis include the large population size. As the questionnaire is sent to a large number of farms with different management practices, a whole array of data can be obtained. The large sample, and the large amount of data obtained from this population can produce a wealth of information on the study of risk factors. However, often questionnaires, as in the current study, collect information retrospectively. This can result in less accurate information as respondents will not always remember management practices/detailed information about their farm and flocks over a year ago. However, these studies are hypothesis generating rather than testing cause and effect associations. Longitudinal studies A longitudinal study can utilise a group of individuals exposed to a particular disease compared with an unexposed group by observing

each for a new disease, in this case an episode of mastitis. In this thesis, a cohort of ewes is followed and samples taken over time. Despite the potentially long duration for follow-ups and the expense, 28 cohort studies are flexible and can be used to test a variety of hypotheses simultaneously. 1.11.Thesis aims Based on the findings of the literature, the overall aim of this thesis was to improve our understanding of the development and persistence of intramammary infections. In order to address this aim, the following objectives were implemented: 1. To identify management practices that might act as risk factors for clinical mastitis (Chapter 2) 2. To investigate the use of MALDI-ToF-MS as a diagnostic tool for species identification and strain differentiation in order to: a. Identify reservoirs of mastitis causing pathogens on the skin of ewes (Chapter 3) b. Observe the carriage of these bacteria into the udder, which might lead to mastitis and identify whether bacteria persist over time in the mammary gland (Chapter 4) 3. To investigate whether udder and teat conformation are heritable traits that affect mastitis (Chapter 5)

# 3. Materials and methods

# Chapter 2 methods

The number of sheep holdings in England in the 2003 census was 45,801 (DEFRA 2003). Based on this, the sample size required was 385, assuming at least 50% of flocks had at least one case of clinical mastitis, with 95% confidence and 90% power (Win-Episcope-2 2010). Assuming a response rate of 30% (Kaler & Green 2008), 999 farmers whose details were provided by EBLEX, the levy body for English sheep and beef farmers, were contacted in January 2010.

# 1.1.1. Design of the questionnaire

Published literature and veterinary expertise on risk factors for mastitis in sheep and cattle was used to design the postal questionnaire (Cooper 2011). Questions were based on the farm, flock, ewes, management regimes, mammary gland health, nutrition and housing. There were a total of 114 questions. The majority of questions were closed or semi-closed, however, there were some open questions, these included whether farmers thought that their ewes got clinical mastitis in certain fields, whether the farmer had changed farm management between 2008 and 2009 and opinions on causes of mastitis and preventive actions.

# 1.1.2. Pilot study

The pilot questionnaire was sent to 12 convenience selected farmers in the north of England that included commercial and pedigree flocks situated in lowland, hill and upland areas with between 50 and 1000 sheep. As a result of the feedback from the pilot study several additional questions were added to the questionnaire, and questions that had poor response rates or were answered incorrectly were re-designed.

1.1.3. Data collection & storage

The final questionnaire was sent out on 8th January 2010, a reminder was sent to nonrespondents on 10th February 2010 and a second reminder and a second copy of the questionnaire were sent to non-respondents on 21st April 2010.

A database was designed in Microsoft Access 2007. Data were entered using multiple choice drop down boxes and checked. The postcodes from the 999 farmers were transformed into X and Y co-ordinates and inputted into ArcView with the worldwide shapefile from the Economic and Social Research Institute (ESRI) to create a map of respondents and non-respondents (Figure 2.1).



# 1.1.4. Data Analysis

Measures of dispersion and central tendency were used to investigate the data (R Core Team 2013). Normality was tested using Shapiro-wilks test and the arithmetic or geometric mean was calculated for variables in R. Obvious errors were corrected, and categories within variables with <5 responses were merged where logical. Queries were used to select and link data from related databases in Microsoft Access to select data for statistical analysis. Respondents with ≤20 ewes in their flock were removed from the analysis (n=4). Analysis of variance (ANOVA) was used to test the differences between group means in R.

The incidence rate of clinical mastitis (IRCM) per flock was calculated. The variance was greater than the mean and so over-dispersed Poisson regression models, offset by flock size, were used to investigate factors associated with IRCM. A total of 144 variables were used to investigate management from 8 weeks before lambing, during lambing and during lactation. Farmers managed sheep either wholly indoors or outdoors or a combination of both, as a consequence 6 separate models were necessary. Model 1 included all respondents and covered general information about the farm, flock, lambing, mastitis, health management and nutrition. Model 2 included flocks housed in barns from up to 8 weeks before lambing to lambing. Model 3 included flocks housed during lambing, and Model 4 included flocks housed after lambing. Model 5 included flocks outdoors during lambing, and Model 6 included flocks outdoors after lambing. Outliers were assessed to determine their impact on the coefficients.

The models took the following general form:

$$g(E(Y) = \beta_0 + \sum \beta_m x_m - \log (O_i)$$

...where g is the log-link function, E(Y) the expected values of the outcome variable Y (the number of ewes with clinical mastitis in 2009),  $\beta_0$  the intercept and  $\beta$ m the regression coefficients (expressing effects of the included predictor variables x<sub>m</sub>),  $O_i$  as the offset (the number of ewes in the breeding flock in 2009).

Risk ratios were  $\exp(\beta)$ . To estimate the 95% confidence interval for  $\exp(\beta)$ , the standard error (S.E.) was calculated as the two-sided confidence coefficient assuming a normal distribution and multiplied by the standard error from the model:  $\exp(\beta) \pm 1.96 \times S.E$ .

# Chapter 3 methods

# 1.1.5. Flock and animals

A flock of approximately 100 pedigree Texel suckler ewes was selected. Twenty-eight milk samples from 27 ewes with clinical mastitis were collected by a veterinarian in August 2010. In October 2010, a further 5 milk samples were taken from 3 ewes with no signs of clinical mastitis and 14 udder skin swabs were collected from 10 ewes (8 from 7 clinically infected ewes and 6 from 3 clinically uninfected ewes).

# 1.1.6. Sampling

# Milk

Milk samples (approx 5 ml) were taken in August 2010 by a veterinarian into a sterile universal and transported to the University of Warwick on ice. Milk samples were taken from the affected half in

ewes with clinical mastitis. In one case, both udder halves were affected and so two milk samples were taken. For those milk samples collected in October 2010, the teats were disinfected with 70% ethanol wipes and the first streams of milk discarded. Udder half milk samples (approx 5 ml) were aseptically collected into pre-labelled universal tubes and stored with glycerol (10% v/v). In 2 of 3 ewes without signs of clinical mastitis, milk samples from both halves were taken.

# Udder skin swabs

The ewe to be tested was turned over and swabs were placed in 1 ml of Phosphate buffered saline (PBS) (to facilitate collection of viable bacteria from the dry surface of the teat) and then run along the outside of the teat base to tip, twisted and then run along the inside of the teat (Figure 3.1). The tip of the teat was not tested as this was the area held to keep the teat steady. Swabs were immediately broken off into 1 ml of Brain Heart Infusion media (BHI) (3.7% w/v Sigma-Aldrich) and glycerol (10% v/v) into a cryovial tube. Udder skin samples were taken from both halves with the separate swabs.



Figure 3.1: The technique used to take a teat skin sample with a swab.

# 1.1.7. Swab and milk sample storage

Milk (with glycerol added to 10% v/v) and skin swab samples (in BHI and 10% v/v glycerol) were stored and transported on ice to the laboratory (University of Warwick). They were then stored at - 20°C until analysis.

# 1.1.8. Growth and selection of isolates from agar plates

# Milk

In July 2011, milk samples were thawed at room temperature and 100µl of milk were spread across a sheep's blood agar (SBA) plate (3.7% w/v BHI and 1.5% w/v Bacto Agar (Sigma-Aldrich 2014))

containing 5% (v/v) sterile defibrinated sheep's blood (Oxoid 2014). Plates were incubated inverted at  $37^{\circ}$ C and checked at 24 and 48 hours.

At least one of each morphologically unique isolate was selected for further analysis. For plates with heavy growth of morphologically identical isolates, up to 9 of each morphologically unique isolate were picked from 9 locations on the plate where 3 gridlines vertically and horizontally met (Figure 3.2).



# Figure 3.2: Location of isolates from milk picked where there was heavy growth.

# Udder skin swabs

In July 2011, udder skin swab samples in 1 ml of BHI and glycerol (10% v/v) were thawed at room temperature. Once thawed, the cryovial tube was mixed gently by pipetting and 100µl was spread across a sheep's blood agar (SBA) plate containing 5% (v/v) sterile sheep's blood. Plates were incubated inverted at 37°C and checked at 24 and 48 hours. At 24 hours (and 48 hours if new colonies had grown between this time), individual colony types were selected for further analysis.

At least one of each morphologically unique isolate was selected for further analysis. For plates with heavy growth of morphologically identical isolates, up to 5 of each morphologically different isolate were picked from 5 locations on the plate (Figure 3.3).

# Figure 3.3: Location of isolates picked from udder skin swabs where there was heavy growth.



For plates with >3 of a variety of morphologically unique isolates (example shown in Figure 3.4), plates were photographed and annotated in Microsoft Word, with morphologically identical isolates highlighted with the same colour and shape (Figure 3.4). Isolates of all distinct morphological types were selected after plate annotation.



# Figure 3.4: Example of annotation of morphologically similar isolates.

Contrary to dairy industry standards, which assume milk sample plates with >3 morphologically distinct colonies are contaminated, there was no number of distinct colonies types that were defined as "contamination". This was particularly relevant to the highly diverse skin swabs.

# 1.1.9. Isolate culturing and storage

Once selected, individual colony types from milk and udder skin samples were sterile streaked using a sterile loop on a brain heart infusion plate (BHI) and incubated inverted at 37°C and

checked at 24 and 48 hours. A single colony was then picked and sub-cultured onto one quadrant of a BHI plate to provide sufficient culture for further testing (Figure 3.5).

Figure 3.5: Workflow from sample plate, to sterile streaking to quarter plating.



Plates were labelled with ewe name, udder half (if applicable) and sample type (udder skin swab or milk). For a single plate, isolates were identified by a system highlighted in Figure 3.6. Therefore, **ewe** = the ewe number, morphologically unique **isolate** = the second number in the series, which would indicate a morphologically unique isolate and **colony** = isolates with the same morphology but which had separate colonies.





A 1µl loop of growth from each quadrant was placed in 5 ml of BHI and glycerol (10% v/v) in a glass universal and incubated at 37°C with vigorous shaking at 200 revolutions per minute (rpm) until turgid (usually at least 24 hours). A 1 ml aliquot of the incubated culture was transferred into a cryovial tube, labelled, snap frozen in dry ice and stored at -80°C.

# 1.1.10. *Matrix-assisted laser desorption/ionisation time-of-flight mass spectrometry* analysis of isolates

Matrix-assisted laser desorption/ionisation-time of flight mass spectrometry (MALDI-TOF MS) allows the analysis of biomolecules by vaporizing protein molecules with laser energy, yielding

distinct signals (mass spectra) for each sample which can be compared to a database to identify bacteria to the species level.

Fresh growth of isolates was prepared prior to MALDI-ToF-MS analysis at QMMS, Somerset.

# Sample preparation

### Direct transfer

A cocktail stick was dabbed into a distinct single colony and zig-zagged across two sequential spots on a Bruker 96 well sample plate. Matrix (1 $\mu$ I) was placed on top of each sample. Matrix was made up using 1 tube of Bruker "HCCA matrix portioned" (Bruker Daltonics) and 250  $\mu$ I of an "organic solvent" (50% acetonitrile (AN), 2.5% trifluoracetic acid (TFA) and 47.5% deionised H<sub>2</sub>O). The prepared matrix was stored in the dark at room temperature and used within 2 weeks.

The bacterial test standard (BTS) (Bruker Daltonics) was used as a control. BTS was made up using Bruker BTS portioned sample, and 50µl of organic solvent. The direct transfer method was used initially for each isolate.

# Extraction method

For some isolates, analysis using the direct transfer method did not produce suitable spectra (usually characterised by a high background and low peak intensity). In these cases the extraction method was used to prepare a sample for MALDI-ToF-MS analysis and so obtain a clearer spectrum.  $300 \ \mu$ l of distilled H<sub>2</sub>O was aliquoted into an Eppendorf tube. A single colony was picked from a quadrant streaked plate using a 1 µl sterile loop and placed into the tube.  $900 \ \mu$ l of ethanol was added and mixed thoroughly. This solution as then centrifuged at 13,000 rpm for 4 mins and the supernatant discarded. This was repeated to remove residual Ethanol and the pellet was left to air-dry for up to 30 minutes.  $50 \ \mu$ l of 70% formic acid and 50 µl of pure acetonitrile was added to the pellet in a fume hood and pipette mixed. This was centrifuged at 13,000 rpm for 2 mins. The supernatant (1µl) was placed onto the target plate in duplicate and allowed to air dry. This was overlaid with 1 µl of matrix solution and air dried.

# **Species identification**

Sample plates were then analysed using MALDI-ToF-MS following the manufacturers instructions. The spectra produced by MALDI-ToF-MS were automatically compared to every spectra in the Bruker database. A species name for each isolate and a 'confidence score' were assigned to each isolate. The score value for each isolate was automatically calculated by MALDI Biotyper 3.0 (utilising Matlab), using a matching algorithm that computes different characteristics of two spectra

to compare patterns within the spectra. Between two spectra, the number of signals that have a closely matching partner, and the symmetry of the matching signal pairs are determined. If the number of signals and the intensity of signals of each spectrum correspond, this results in a high matching value. Bruker Daltonics suggests a conservative score of 2.0+ to be used for species identification. In this study, a score of 1.7+ was used as a cut-off point due to the additional confirmation of species identification through the number of technical repeats, culture morphology, Gram staining results and use of Pulse Field Gel Electrophoresis.

The results were saved in HTML format and transferred into Microsoft Access. Queries were used to merge technical repeats, allowing the top score for each colony to be identified. Isolates with at least one score of  $\geq$ 1.7 were included in analysis. The species level identification was also compared to previous laboratory analyses (culture morphology, and Gram stain) to ensure accuracy.

# Strain differentiation

Data analyses were carried out in MALDI Biotyper software 3.0, ClinProTools, and Flex Analysis. Several parameters for dendrogram and correlation coefficient indices (CCI) production in MALDI Biotyper 3.0 were tested, and the literature was reviewed. Dendrograms (Distance measure: correlation, Linkage: average, Score) were used to cluster isolates into groups and CCI (Mass 3000-12000, Resolution: 4) were used to compare isolates of interest. Ultimately only CCI images were used as values were absolute, whereas dendrogram distances changed depending on the isolates inputted into the analysis. CCI matrices were colour coded according to Microsoft Excel conditional formatting to easily view isolates that were very similar (high CCI estimates in red) or very different (low CCI estimates in green).

Isolates from species found in abundance on both udder skin and in milk were taken forward for further analysis (Pulsed field gel electrophoresis) including isolates identified as *Staphylococcus xylosus, Staphylococcus equorum, Staphylococcus warneri, Rhodococcus corprophilus, Micrococcus luteus,* and *Bacillus pumilus.* 

# 1.1.11. Pulsed field gel electrophoresis

The typing method is considered the gold standard for analysing a number of organisms. The protocol was based on McDougall *et al.*, (2003). In brief, cells grown to a specific optical density were immobilised in low melting point agarose gel plugs and the immobilised cells were enzymatically lysed within the gel matrix. Cell debris was then washed from the plugs leaving behind essentially intact DNA molecules in the plug. The method was specifically optimised for all species found on both udder skin and in milk to enable high quality PFGE analysis in future studies.

Several parts of the method, based on McDougall *et al.*, 2003, were optimised in order to improve PFGE gel quality and subsequent analysis (Table 3.1). An example of the original versus optimised gel image show tighter bands, suitable run time, and optimal image acquisition (Figure 3.7).

PFGE stage	PFGE Parameter		Original	Final	Reason
Plug production	Growth media		5 ml BHI	5 ml BHI and glycerol (10% v/v)	Improved growth of all isolates
	Cell concentration		Abs 0.9-1.1 (OD <sub>610</sub> )	Abs 0.4-1.1 (OD <sub>610</sub> )	Altered depending on genus, as too high an OD meant too many cells were in the plugs which hindered lysis, or too low an OD meant bands would not be visible
	Plug agarose concentration		1.8%	1.2%	Improved final gel image (possibly due to lysis and restriction digest being better with a less concentrated agarose)
	Equilibration of culture and agarose		10 mins at 37°C	25 mins at 50°C	Improved lysis, and ensured cell suspension was at a similar temperature to agarose improving mixing and encouraging uniform plugs.
Lysis	Addition to 300µl cell suspension	Proteinase K (20mg/ml) None adde		25µl (all species apart from staphylococci)	Improved lysis and therefore final gel image for all but staphylococcal species.
		Sodium dodecyl sulfate (SDS) (10% w/v)	None added	25µl (all species apart from staphylococci)	Improved lysis and therefore final gel image for all but staphylococcal species.
		Lysostaphin stock solution (1 mg/ml in 20 mM sodium acetate)	4µI	3μl (staphylococcal spp. only)	3µl was a suitable amount to ensure cell lysis
		Lysozyme (20mg/ml)	NA	20µl (all species apart from staphylococci)	Improved lysis and therefore final gel image
	Addition to 3ml lysis buffer	Proteinase K (20mg/ml) and Lysostaphin stock solution (1 mg/ml in 20 mM sodium acetate)	None added	Added	Addition of proteinase K and lysozyme in the lysis buffer further improved lysis.
	Lysis incubation time		4 hr	Overnight	Improved lysis

# Table 3.1: Optimisation parameters compared to original method McDougal et al., 2003 and the improvements these optimisations had.

PFGE stage	PFGE Parameter	Original	Final	Reason		
Wash	Number of washes	4	6	Additional washes were required for ensure Proteinase K		
	Composition	TE only	TE X 4, ultrapure sterile water x 2	Ultrapure sterile water washes reduced the smearing of gel images.		
-	BSA	ΝΔ	1%	Improved restriction digest substantially reducing time		
				needed to achieve complete digestion		
	Digestion temp	25°C	30°C for staphylococcal			
Restriction digestion			species, 37°C for all	Allowed complete restriction digest		
			others			
	Digestion incubation length	2-3hr	Overnight for			
			staphylococcal species.	Allowed complete restriction digest		
			4 hours for all other	Allowed complete restriction digest		
			species.			
Running parameters	Gel concentration	1%	1.2%	Encouraged clear band separation (especially for bands that were extremely close) and reduced smearing.		



# Figure 3.7: Original versus optimised PFGE gels

Original

Optimised

# Final method

One colony was transferred from a quadrant streaked plate to 5 ml BHI and glycerol (10% v/v) liquid broth in a glass universal. This was incubated for varying times and temperatures in a shaking incubator (170 rpm) depending on the genus of the isolate (Table 3.2).

Genus	Temperature	Time
Bacillus	25°C	24 hours
Micrococcus	25°C	24 hours
Rhodococcus	25°C	48 hours
Staphylococcus	37°C	24 hours

# Table 3.2: Incubation time and temperatures by genus.

# Plug production

200  $\mu$ l of liquid culture was transferred to a fresh glass universal containing 5ml BHI and glycerol (10% v/v) for the same time, at the same temperature. The OD<sub>610</sub> of the cell suspension was adjusted with PBS (Table 3.3).

Bacterial genus	Concentration of cell suspension @610nm		
Bacillus	0.800-1.000		
Microccocus	0.800-1.000		
Rhodococcus	0.400-0.700		
Staphylococcus	0.900-1.100		

 Table 3.3: Final concentration of cell suspension range by genus.

The cell suspension (200  $\mu$ l) was centrifuged at 12,000 rpm for 3 minutes. The supernatant was aspirated and the pellet resuspended in 300 $\mu$ l of 1 ml Tris-EDTA (TE) buffer (10 mM Tris HCl, 1 mM EDTA [pH 8]).

# Preparation of bacterial cell agarose plugs and subsequent cell lysis

*Staphylococcal species:* 4µl of conventional lysostaphin stock solution and 296µl of molten 1.2% SeaKemGold agarose in TE buffer [pH 8] were added to the cell suspension, gently mixed and dispensed into the wells of a plug mould.

All other species: 20µl of lysozyme (20mg/ml), 3µl of lyzosyme (1mg/ml), 25µl of 10% Sodium dodecyl sulfate (SDS), and 25µl of Proteinase K (20mg/ml) were added to the cell suspension and incubated at 50°C for 25 minutes. 227µl of 1.2% SeaKemGold agarose in TE buffer [pH 8] were added to the incubated cell suspension and gently mixed, and dispensed into the wells of a plug mould.

Plugs were left to solidify at room temperature for 10-15 minutes and then removed from the plug molds and placed in a sterile plastic bijoux containing 3ml of lysis buffer (6 mM Tris HCl, 1 M NaCl, 100 mM EDTA, 0.5% Brij-58, 0.2% sodium deoxycholate, 0.5% sodium lauroylsarcosine, 0.83mg/ml Proteinase K, 0.83mg/ml lysozyme). The tubes were then incubated overnight at 37°C in a shaking incubator (190 rpm). The plugs were transferred to a sterile plastic bijoux containing 3ml of TE wash and incubated in a shaking incubator at 37°C for an hour. This was repeated four times. The plugs were washed in the same manner with ultrapure sterile water twice. Digested plugs were stored in fresh TE at 4°C.

# Restriction digestion of extracted DNA in agarose plugs

A whole plug slice was then transferred to a sterile eppendorf containing the restriction enzyme, restriction buffer and BSA for varying lengths of time depending on the genus, and restriction enzyme (Table 3.4).

# Gel preparation and agarose plug loading

In order to prepare the gel, SeaKemGold agarose was prepared in 0.5X TBE (1.2%) and poured into the gel mold, which was left to solidify for an hour. The comb was removed and plug slices were washed in ultrapure sterile water, dried and loaded into wells.

# PFGE running parameters

PFGE was performed using a contour-clamped homogeneous electric field (CHEF) apparatus (CHEF Mapper, Bio-Rad, USA). Running parameters were as follows: 200 V (6 V/cm); temperature, 14°C; initial switch, 5 s; final switch, 40 s; which changed over the entire run and time, 21 h. Gels were stained in 0.5mg/ml ethidium bromide solution for 30 minutes in a covered container and then destained in distilled water for 1 hour. The water was changed twice during this time. Gels were viewed by UV transillumination and the images stored for further analysis.

		Amount (µI)				Temperature	Time
Bacterial genus	Enzyme	Restriction		BSA	Restriction	(°C)	(hours)
		buffer 10X	1120	(1%)	enzyme	(0)	(10013)
Staphylococcus	Smal	20	180	6	3	30	18hr
Rhodococcus	Asel	20	180	5	5	37	4h
Bacillus	Apal	20	180	5	5	37	4h
Microccocus	Xbal	20	180	5	4	37	4hr

# Table 3.4: Restriction digest enzymes, amounts, temperatures and lengths by genus.

# 1.1.12. Data management

GelCompar II (Applied Maths, Belgium) was used to cluster isolates. Gel images were imported into the software, and edited to select lanes, bands, curves and to normalise between gels using ladders on either side of the gel. Clustering (Band based: different bands, Dendrogram type: UPGMA (unweighted pair group mean average)) was carried out to cluster isolates of the same or different PFGE types. Isolates were considered to be different strain types if they had  $\geq$ 1 band difference (dendrograms did not have 100% similarity for those isolates). This is because isolates that are indistinguishable by PFGE are likely to have been derived from a common parent (Tenover *et al.* 1995), which is necessary in terms of outbreak, reservoir and transmission analyses.

Dendrograms produced from GelCompar II were compared to CCI indices from MALDI Biotyper 3.0 to assess the use of MALDI-ToF-MS as a strain clustering method. PFGE images in GelCompar II also used to identify paired strain types in milk and on udder skin. Conditional formatting in Microsoft Excel was used to produce a colour scale for each CCI matrix.

Chapter 4 methods

# 1.1.13. Flock and animals

A farm in Shropshire, England was selected as the study farm. Forty-six ewes comprising 20 3 year old ewes and 23 6 year old and 3 2 year old ewes were randomly selected for milk sampling at time of enrolment and the following time points: 1-4 days of lambing, at approximately 4 weeks and approximately 8 weeks into lactation.

# 1.1.14. Sampling

Milk samples for bacteriology were aseptically collected by Selene Huntley according to the methodology described in Chapter 3. Swab samples were taken according to the methodology described in Chapter 3. Both milk and udder skin swabs were taken from all ewes at 1-4 days after lambing, and approximately 4 weeks and 8 weeks into lactation.

For lamb mouth samples, swabs were inserted to the back of the lambs' throat and twisted on each side at the first observation only (1-4 days of lambing).

Milk (with glycerol added to 20% v/v), udder skin and lamb mouth swab samples were stored and transported on ice to the laboratory (University of Warwick). Swabs were immediately broken off into 1ml of Brain Heart Infusion agar (BHI) and glycerol (at 10% v/v) into a cryovial tube. They were then stored at -20°C until analysis.

# 1.1.15. Growth and selection of isolates from agar plates

A random selection of these samples were taken for laboratory analysis across all three age groups: 8 3 year old ewes and 8 6 year old and 3 2 year old ewes.

Each sample was thawed at room temperature and plated onto three different types of agar using aseptic techniques; a sterile 10µl loop was used to sterile streak onto half a BHI + sheep's blood agar (SBA) plate containing 5% (v/v) sterile sheep's blood and a new sterile 10µl loop for half an Edwards agar plate (a selective medium for isolation of *Streptocococi* typically involved in bovine mastitis). In addition, 100µl was pipetted onto a MacConkey agar plate (a selective medium for isolation of Gram-negative and enteric bacilli) and spread. The plates were incubated inverted at  $37^{\circ}$ C. Plates were checked at 24, 48 and 72 hours, and colonies picked as described below.

# Milk

Due to the low numbers of isolates cultured from milk samples, the majority of isolates were picked under the supervision of an experienced microbiologist, and in particular those typically morphologically associated with mastitis. Morphologically identical isolates were not found frequently as in Chapter 3, apart from where there was pure growth of one species. However, in all cases, up to 5 of each morphologically unique isolate was picked for further analysis.

#### Udder skin swabs

The altered plating technique (using three plates, two of which are selective media and sterile streaking onto SBA plates) provided a more efficient method for picking off isolates of interest. Under the supervision of an experienced microbiologist, isolates that were morphologically similar to isolates picked from their milk and/or lamb mouth counterparts were selected for further analysis.

#### Lamb mouth swabs

As growth was limited to a single morphologically distinct colony type from most lamb mouth swab samples, up to 5 of each morphologically unique isolate were picked for further analysis regardless of whether these were also identified in the milk or on udder skin.

# Isolate storage

Once selected, isolates were quarter streaked as in Chapter 3.However, plates were labelled with sample number (a unique 5 digit number for each udder half), the sample type (S-Skin, Blank-Milk, L-Lamb), the media in which they were isolated from (MC-MacConkey, ED-Edwards, BD- SBA) and a unique letter (A-P). For example a *Staphylococcus aureus* isolate from an SBA plate might be labelled 43472 BD A. As there was no milk sample number pre-lambing, samples were labelled with

the Ewe number, lamb number (if the sample came from a lamb mouth), the media in which they were isolated from as above, and a unique letter as above.

In order to reduce spectral variability, they were only passaged once before MALDI-ToF-MS analysis. This quadrant was also used to take culture for long-term storage in BHI and glycerol (at 10% v/v) at -80°C as in Chapter 3.

# 1.1.16. Matrix-assisted laser desorption/ionisation time-of-flight mass spectrometry

# **Optimisation of MALDI-ToF-MS sample preparation**

Substantial efforts went into assessing and minimising spectral variability between technical replicates and media types to ensure strain differentiation would be accurate. Technical replicate variability were tested using *Staphylococcus aureus, Streptococcus dysglactiae* and *Streptococcus uberis*.

The media types tested were SBA (the standard agar used for MALDI-ToF-MS), MacConkey and Edwards agar, using coagulase-negative staphylococci for SBA and MacConkey agar and *Streptococcus uberis* for Edwards agar as these were the media types that would be used in this study.

# MALDI-ToF-MS protocol

The reagent and sample set up was as described in Chapter 3. The bacterial test standard (BTS) (Bruker) was used as a control. Extracted isolates were spotted in duplicate on a 96 well Bruker target plate and run through MALDI-ToF-MS. Spectra were compared to the Biotyper 3.0 database and a species name and score were assigned (as in chapter 3).

# Spectral analysis

Species found in abundance on udder skin, in lambs mouths and ewe milk were taken forward for further software analysis (and therefore strain differentiation) using Biotyper 3.0, FlexAnalysis and ClinProTools. The results were saved in html format and transferred into Microsoft Access.

# 1.1.17. Data management

Two databases were constructed; one containing ewe data such as observation date, ewe ID, body condition score, lambing date, lamb ID, sex, and litter size. The second database contained the results from MALDI-ToF-MS analysis in order to select isolates of interest for potential transmission events.

These included isolates where the same species were identified in:

1) The same location for the same ewe over 2 or more observations (Potential bacterial persistence)

2) Two different environments for the same ewe (ewe milk, udder skin and/or the ewe's lambs mouth) at the same time point (Potential reservoir or transmission pathway of unknown direction)

3) Two different environments for the same ewe (ewe milk, udder skin and/or the ewe's lambs mouth) over 2 or more observations (Potential transmission pathway)

Queries were used to merge technical replicates (Microsoft Access), allowing the top score for each isolate to be selected. Score values calculations are defined in chapter 3. Queries were used to identify ewes where the same species were present on the udder skin and/or lamb mouths and at the next observation in the milk, or vise versa or where species persisted in the milk or on the skin over time.

Composite correlation indices (CCI) were calculated for spectra of interest using Biotyper 3.0 (described in chapter 3) in order to select isolates that were likely to be the same strain types within samples from the same ewe and spectra from these isolates were manually compared using FlexAnalysis and ClinProTools. CCI matrices were exported to Micrososft Excel and conditional formatting was applied to produce a heat map for easy viewing.

#### Chapter 5 methods

#### 1.1.18. Flock & Ewe Selection

Ten performance recorded pedigree Texel flocks with individual ewe identification were convenience selected based on recommendations and farmer interest. Flocks included representatives from England, Scotland and Wales (Figure 5.1).





# 1.1.19. Data collection

All Texel ewes from each flock were included in the study, which took place between 2012 and 2014. Two flocks were visited over several years. All ewes lambed between January and May of each year. Data collection occurred mid-lactation and included 10 udder and teat conformation traits, and individual ewe and lamb IDs.

# Variable definitions

#### Udder traits

All ewes were scored for 10 udder and teat traits using a combination of linear scores, measurements, udder palpation and visual examination. Linear scores were used to characterise teat placement, udder drop, and the degree of separation of the udder halves as described previously (Casu *et al.* 2006, Marie-Etancelin *et al.* 2005) (Figure 5.2). A tape measure was used to record

udder width from the rear at the widest point and the left teat length only because the initial study indicated a strong positive correlation between left and right udder teat length and width. Udder masses were detected by manual palpation of each udder half, and teat lesions were observed by visual inspection. All measurements were performed by two researchers and data recorded on custom-designed data recording sheets.





#### Binary variables

Chronic mastitis was defined as a palpable mass in either udder half.

*Teat lesions* (left and/or right) were defined as any lesion present on the teat at the observation. These could include bites, tears and grazes, which tended to be attributed to suckling; or spots, warts and/or proliferative scabs on the teat.

# 1.1.20. Data summary and analyses

All data were entered into Microsoft Excel spreadsheets. Individual ewe data were matched to flock book numbers via BASCO or by the farmers. Flock level pedigree data including sire and dam IDs were obtained from the BASCO database (BASCO). Data were moved into Microsoft Access. Queries were used to select and link data from Microsoft Access for statistical analysis. Ewe age in years at the time of observation was calculated as the difference between the date of birth and the observation date. Number of days in milk was calculated as the difference between the ewes' lambing date and the observation date.

Measures of dispersion and central tendency were used to investigate the data (R Core Team 2013). Obvious errors were corrected where possible.

# 4. Results

Please see chapter 2 results from thesis Please see chapter 3 results from thesis Please see chapter 4 results from thesis Please see chapter 5 results from thesis

# 5. Discussion

The aim of this thesis was to contribute to the understanding of the development and persistence of mastitis in suckler ewes. The likelihood of a ewe developing mastitis is influenced by a farmer's management practices, the environment of the ewe, the ewe's susceptibility to developing mastitis and the bacterial strains in the environment and mammary gland. Due to the multifactorial nature of these infections, several research approaches were used in this thesis. The initial study estimated an incidence rate of clinical mastitis (IRCM) of 1.2 ewes/100 ewes/year, the first estimate that indicates the impact of mastitis on suckler flocks in England. The estimate varied depending on management system, with ewes that always reared lambs outdoors having a lower IRCM than those that always reared lambs indoors. In addition, the risk for an increase in IRCM varied by management system and temporally. This indicated that different management systems expose

ewes to different risks and therefore need to be treated independently when considering risk factors for the development of mastitis. Whilst the IRCM obtained is the same as the only other IRCM in suckler ewes (Arsenault et al. 2008), there were some respondents that never checked their ewes for mastitis. Only 88% of respondents checked ewes' mammary glands for disease at lambing and the regularity of checks decreased over time after lambing (Chapter 2), therefore this IRCM may be an underestimate. In addition, ewe movement was significantly associated with IRCM: flocks that were kept in the same barns during and after lambing, or in the same field before and after lambing had a decreased IRCM. A likely explanation for this is that when ewes are moved they are exposed to new potential pathogens and so suffer more mastitis. The potential importance of the microbial environment was also highlighted by the association between floor type and IRCM, which is likely to be linked to the how easy it is for a flooring material to be cleaned and/or the effect of flooring type on how saturated bedding becomes. Hard flooring, associated with a decrease in IRCM, is uneven which could improve fluid drainage and so impede bacterial colonisation. In order to ascertain this link, this hypothesis requires further investigation. 161 Finally, poor udder conformation was significantly positively correlated with IRCM. This questionnaire-based study helped generate the hypothesis that udder conformation is significantly associated with chronic mastitis This hypothesis was subsequently tested in Chapter 5, where udder conformation traits were found to be significantly associated with chronic mastitis. This highlights the usefulness of questionnaire-based studies for hypothesis generation and subsequent testing in observational studies. The role of the environment was first considered by investigating the potential sources of mastitis-causing pathogens (Chapter 3). In order to effectively link an environmental organism to a case of mastitis, it is necessary to identify organisms to at least the strain level. The current gold standard strain typing methods (MLST, genotyping and PFGE) can be extremely time-consuming and expensive, particularly for epidemiological studies where samples need to be taken from multiple ewes over time. MALDI-ToF-MS offered a quicker, cheaper alternative to these methods and therefore was compared to PFGE in order to investigate whether this method could be used as a strain typing tool. The results from the study showed that MALDI-ToF-MS had good correspondence with PFGE when utilising composite correlation indices (CCI) for Staphylococcus warneri, Staphylococcus equorum, Rhodococcus corprophilus, Bacillus pumilus and Micrococcus luteus to varying levels - most species had distinct strain level cut-off points for CCI estimates, whereas the threshold for Staphylococcus warneri was more ambiguous. For example, MALDI-ToF-MS analysis, supported by PFGE, indicated that many different strain types of Staphylococcus equorum were isolated from different samples. These data suggest there are many different sources of Staphylococcus equorum which fits the traditional view of this organism having an "environmental" origin. The "environmental" versus "contagious" classifications, although rigid, does provide useful information as to potential transmission pathways of bacterial species in mastitis. The same species and strain types for Rhodococcus corprophilus, and Staphylococcus warneri were identified on udder skin and in ewe milk, indicating

162 the udder skin as a possible reservoir of mastitis causing pathogens. However as the study in Chapter 3 was not a longitudinal study, the direction of transmission (if any) could not be ascertained. In Chapter 3 only blood agar was used to culture bacteria from udder skin and milk samples which could have limited the variety of bacterial species isolated and then identified. In addition, isolates were prepared for MALDI-ToF-MS using the direct smear method which results in increased spectral variability and signal to noise ratio and therefore greater technical CCI variability. The study design was improved in a larger, longitudinal study (Chapter 4) with varied media and sampling which provided the ability to investigate potential transmission pathways. As udder skin was identified as a potential reservoir of pathogenic bacteria (Chapter 3), this chapter focussed on potential transmission pathways via lamb mouths and udder skin by sampling these environments and ewe milk over time. To maximise the success rate of finding potential transmission pathways of mastitis causing bacteria, a variety of selective media were used in the study. In addition, a formic acid extraction method was used instead of the direct smear method to reduce spectral variability. Despite only sampling from ewes showing no clinical signs, a variety of mastitiscausing pathogens were isolated from ewe milk, udder skin and lamb mouths. This differs to chapter 3 where only a few mastitis-causing pathogens were identified despite ewes showing clinical signs of mastitis. This could be due to the increased number of samples collected in chapter 4. Alternatively, the use of selective media in this study may have enhanced the growth of these species, highlighting the importance of media selection to ensure optimal conditions for bacterial isolation. Twenty-six species were found in more than one location (lamb mouth, ewe udder skin and/or ewe milk). The fact that some bacterial species were found in all 3 locations and some in only 2 of 3 locations may give some indication as to their transmission pathways. For example, species only present in lamb mouths and milk may be directly transmitted between lamb and ewe. Alternatively, isolates only identified on ewe skin and in the milk may be transferred from the ewe's environment to the skin and then the milk rather than via her lamb. 163 To the authors knowledge, Mannheimia haemolytica is the only mastitis-causing pathogen isolated from lamb mouths previously (Fragkou et al. 2011). In this study, a variety of bacteria associated with mastitis were isolated from lamb mouths, including: Aerococcus viridans, Bacillus licheniformis, Escherichia coli, Enterococcus faecalis, Enterococcus faecium and coagulase-negative staphylococci, providing evidence for the role of lambs in the transmission of mastitis. Potential transmission events over time were observed between lamb mouths, ewe udder skin and milk. Most notably, the same Escherichia coli strain type was isolated from lamb mouths and udder skin at the first observation after lambing but not on udder skin pre-lambing or in ewe milk. In addition, the same strain types of several coagulase-negative staphylococci were isolated at different sampling time points in ewe milk and on udder skin, including initial detection on udder skin followed by subsequent detection in the milk at the next observation. This represents evidence of transmission from the udder skin to the milk of a potential pathogen. There were also several cases of colonisation of the same strain type on udder skin and in ewe milk at the same observation. Whilst

these data suggest passage between udder skin and ewe milk it is not possible to determine the direction of transmission. The persistent isolation of the same strain types were found over time for Bacillis licheniformis, Staphylococcus hominis, and Staphylococcus warneri for ewe milk and Staphylococcus equorum and Staphylococcus aureus on ewe udder skin. Due to the long intervals between sampling points, these may represent re-colonisations by the same strain rather than persistence. However, these persistent isolations occurred in a large number of ewes, therefore it seems reasonable to assume these were persistent colonisations, particularly in the case of ewe milk. These results indicate the capacity of MALDI-ToF-MS as a rapid strain identification method to determine potential transmission events and persistence of bacterial strains between and within lamb mouths, ewe udder skin and/or ewe milk over time. The identification of these potential transmission pathways are particularly important as they highlight potential routes for infection for other 164 mastitis causing pathogens as well and so may inform general treatment and control strategies for mastitis. Having investigated farmer management practices and the environment of the ewe in the role of mastitis, the ewe's susceptibility to developing mastitis also needed to be investigated. In particular, having identified udder conformation as the most significant factor associated with IRCM in Chapter 2, the final study aimed to investigate whether udder and teat conformation are heritable traits that affect mastitis. In this study (Chapter 5), all udder traits (bar teat placement) were associated with the number of days in lactation, indicating that these traits were correlated to milk production. Ewe age was also correlated with all udder traits. It was therefore important to account for ewe age and days in lactation in the association between udder traits and chronic mastitis. Even after accounting for these factors, there were phenotypic association between udder traits and chronic mastitis. This supports the hypothesis generated in Chapter 2, where the IRCM was positively associated with the percent of flock with poor udder conformation and highlights the importance of this factor. Interestingly, the presence of a teat lesion on either half also increased the risk of a ewe having chronic mastitis. Although this was a tested factor in chapter 2, it was not significantly associated with IRCM. In this study (Chapter 5) researchers did thorough checks on all the mammary glands on ewes in the study whilst the questionnaire based study in Chapter 2 indicated that many farmers only check their animals irregularly. As teat lesions are fairly transient in nature they may well have been missed with irregular checking, which may explain the discrepancy between these two studies. The udder conformation traits showed good levels of heritability for all but udder width, and for chronic mastitis and teat lesions on the right udder half indicating that selection on these traits could be feasible, provided there was sufficient data recording. Although these analyses provided good estimated of the heritabilities of udder traits, knowledge of genetic correlations between these traits and others is required to determine the genetic progress that would be made if these traits were included in a selection program. 165 The work in this thesis has addressed several gaps in the knowledge in mastitis epidemiology as outlined in Chapter 1. Namely by providing the first estimate for the IRCM in suckler flocks in England, and generating hypotheses for factors that may affect

the IRCM. One of the associated factors, udder conformation, was investigated in a cohort study as to whether these traits are heritable and whether they influence chronic mastitis cases. Finally, the role of the ewe's environment was investigated by identifying the potential sources and transmission pathways for a variety of mastitis causing bacteria. This thesis highlights the value of a multidisciplinary approach utilising microbiology and epidemiology whereby a cohort of ewes could be investigated over time using microbiological techniques in order to improve our understanding of the development of mastitis. In conclusion, the results from these studies have contributed to our understanding of influences on the development of mastitis and generated hypotheses for future studies to reduce IRCM in suckler flocks.

# 6. Industry messages

Further work could include testing the hypotheses linked to the ewe's microbial environment generated in Chapter 1, in particular the effect of flooring type on the IRCM and whether this is linked to bedding saturation and therefor microbial colonisation. The effect of ewe movement between environments on the IRCM was another interesting hypothesis that could be tested further by investigating bacterial communities in different environments for example individual lambing pens, group lambing pens and each field. Further evidence for the potential transmission pathways highlighted within this thesis could be gathered using shorter sampling periods using single nucleotide polymorphisms (SNP). In addition, the somatic cell count could be compared to this dataset in order to observe whether somatic cell count (indicating an immune response) increases after a potential transmission event.

# 7. References

Abera, M., Elias, B., Aragaw, K., Denberga, Y., Amenu, K. & Sheferaw, D. (2012). Major causes of mastitis and associated risk factors in smallholder dairy cows in Shashemene, southern Ethiopia. African Journal of Agricultural Research 7 (24), 3513 - 3518.

Abureema, S., Smooker, P., Malmo, J. & Deighton, M. (2014). Molecular epidemiology of recurrent clinical mastitis due to Streptococcus uberis: Evidence of both an environmental source and recurring infection with the same strain. Journal of Dairy Science 97 (1), 285-290.

Al-Majali, A. M. & Jawabreh, S. (2003). Period prevalence and etiology of subclinical mastitis in Awassi sheep in southern Jordan. Small Ruminant Research 47 (3), 243-248.

Anderson, K. L. & Lyman, R. L. (2006). Long-Term Persistence of Specific GeneticTypes of Mastitis-Causing Staphylococcus aureus on Three Dairies. Journal of Dairy Science 89 (12), 4551-4556.

Anderson, N. W., Buchan, B. W., Riebe, K. M., Parsons, L. N., Gnacinski, S. & Ledeboer, N. A. (2012). Effects of Solid-Medium Type on Routine Identification of Bacterial Isolates by Use of Matrix-Assisted Laser Desorption Ionization–Time of Flight Mass Spectrometry. Journal of Clinical Microbiology 50 (3), 1008-1013.

Arsenault, J., Dubreuil, P., Higgins, R. & Bélanger, D. (2008). Risk factors and impacts of clinical and subclinical mastitis in commercial meat-producing sheep flocks in Quebec, Canada. Preventive Veterinary Medicine 87 (3–4), 373-393.

Bar, D., Tauer, L. W., Bennett, G., González, R. N., Hertl, J. A., Schukken, Y. H., Schulte, H. F., Welcome, F. L. & Gröhn, Y. T. (2008). The Cost of Generic Clinical Mastitis in Dairy Cows as Estimated by Using Dynamic Programming. Journal of Dairy Science 91 (6), 2205-2214.

Barbuddhe, S. B., Maier, T., Schwarz, G., Kostrzewa, M., Hof, H., Domann, E., Chakraborty, T. &Hain, T. (2008). Rapid Identification and Typing of Listeria Species by Matrix-Assisted Laser Desorption Ionization-Time of Flight Mass Spectrometry. Applied and Environmental Microbiology 74 (17), 5402-5407.

Barillet, F., Astruc, J. M., Lagriffoul, G., Aguerre, X. & Bonaïti, B. (2008). Selecting milk composition and mastitis resistance by using a part lactation sampling design in French Manech red faced dairy sheep breed. Proceedings of the 36th International Committee for Animal Recording (ICAR) Biennal Session 13 (129), 129 - 135.

Barillet, F., Rupp, R., Mignon-Grasteau, S., Astruc, J.-M. & Jacquin, M. (2001). Genetic analysis for mastitis resistance and milk somatic cell score in French Lacaune dairy sheep. Genetics, Selection, Evolution : GSE 33 (4), 397-415.

Barkema, H. W., Schukken, Y. H., Lam, T. J. G. M., Beiboer, M. L., Benedictus, G. & Brand, A. (1999). Management Practices Associated with the Incidence Rate of Clinical Mastitis. Journal of Dairy Science 82 (8), 1643 - 1654.

Baro, J. A., Carriedo, J. A. & San Primitivo, F. (1994). Genetic Parameters of Test Day Measures for Somatic Cell Count, Milk Yield, and Protein Percentage of Milking Ewes. Journal of Dairy Science 77 (9), 2658-2662.

Barreiro, J. R., Ferreira, C. R., Sanvido, G. B., Kostrzewa, M., Maier, T., Wegemann, B., Böttcher, V., Eberlin, M. N. & dos Santos, M. V. (2010). Short communication: Identification of subclinical cow mastitis pathogens in milk by matrix-assisted laser desorption/ionization time-of-flight mass spectrometry. Journal of Dairy Science 93 (12), 5661-5667.

Batavani, R. A., Mortaz, E., Falahian, K. & Dawoodi, M. A. (2003). Study on frequency, etiology and some enzymatic activities of subclinical ovine mastitis in Urmia, Iran. Small Ruminant Research 50 (1), 45-50.

Beheshti, R., Shaieghi, J., Eshratkhah , B., Ghalehkandi, J. G. & Maheri-Sis, N. (2010). Prevalence and etiology of subclinical mastitis in ewes of the Tabriz region, Iran. Global Veterinaria 4, 299-302. Bergonier, D. & Berthelot, X. (2003). New advances in epizootiology and control of ewe mastitis. Livestock Production Science 79 (1), 1-16. Bergonier, D., de Cremoux, R., Rupp, R., Lagriffoul, G. & Berthelot, X. (2003). Mastitis of dairy small ruminants. Veterinary Research 34, 689 - 716.

Berriatua, E., Ziluaga, I., Miguel-Virto, C., Uribarren, P., Juste, R., Laevens, S., Vandamme, P. & Govan, J. R. W. (2001). Outbreak of Subclinical Mastitis in a Flock of Dairy Sheep Associated with Burkholderia cepacia Complex Infection. Journal of Clinical Microbiology 39 (3), 990-994.

Boggs, S. R., Cazares, L. H. & Drake, R. (2012). Characterization of a Staphylococcus aureus USA300 protein signature using matrix-assisted laser desorption/ionization time-of-flight mass spectrometry. Journal of Medical Microbiology 61 (Pt 5), 640-644.

Boss, R., Naskova, J., Steiner, A. & Graber, H. U. (2011). Mastitis diagnostics: Quantitative PCR for Staphylococcus aureus genotype B in bulk tank milk. Journal of Dairy Science 94 (1), 128-137. Bradley, A. J. (2002). Bovine Mastitis: An Evolving Disease. The Veterinary Journal 164 (2), 116-128.

Bradley, A. J. & Green, M. J. (2000). A Study of the Incidence and Significance of Intramammary Enterobacterial Infections Acquired During the Dry Period. Journal of Dairy Science 83 (9), 1957-1965.

Bradley, A. J. & Green, M. J. (2001). Adaptation of Escherichia coli to the Bovine Mammary Gland. Journal of Clinical Microbiology 39 (5), 1845-1849.

Capuco, A. V., Bright, S. A., Pankey, J. W., Wood, D. L., Miller, R. H. & Bitman, J. (1992). Increased Susceptibility to Intramammary Infection Following Removal of Teat Canal Keratin. Journal of Dairy Science 75 (8), 2126-2130.

Capurro, A., Aspán, A., Ericsson Unnerstad, H., Persson Waller, K. & Artursson, K. (2010). Identification of potential sources of Staphylococcus aureus in herds with mastitis problems. Journal of Dairy Science 93 (1), 180-191.

Carbonnelle, E., Mesquita, C., Bille, E., Day, N., Dauphin, B., Beretti, J.-L., Ferroni, A., Gutmann, L. & Nassif, X. (2011). MALDI-TOF mass spectrometry tools for bacterial identification in clinical microbiology laboratory. Clinical Biochemistry 44 (1), 104-109.

Carta, A., Casu, S. & Salaris, S. (2009). Invited review: Current state of genetic improvement in dairy sheep. Journal of Dairy Science 92 (12), 5814-5833.

Casu, S., Pernazza, I. & Carta, A. (2006). Feasibility of a linear scoring method of udder morphology for the selection scheme of Sardinian sheep. Journal of Dairy Science 89, 2200 - 2209.

Casu, S., Sechi, S., Salaris, S. L. & Carta, A. (2010). Phenotypic and genetic relationships between udder morphology and udder health in dairy ewes. Small Ruminant Research 88 (2–3), 77-83.

Chan, R., Acres, S. D. & Costerton, J. W. (1982). Use of specific antibody to demonstrate glycocalyx, K99 pili, and the spatial relationships of K99+ enterotoxigenic Escherichia coli in the ileum of colostrum-fed calves. Infection and Immunity 37 (3), 1170-80.

Chen, Y., Zhang, W. & Knabel, S. J. (2007). Multi-Virulence-Locus Sequence Typing Identifies Single Nucleotide Polymorphisms Which Differentiate Epidemic Clones and Outbreak Strains of Listeria monocytogenes. Journal of Clinical Microbiology 45 (3), 835-846.

Christner, M., Trusch, M., Rohde, H., Kwiatkowski, M., Schlüter, H., Wolters, M., Aepfelbacher, M. & Hentschke, M. (2014). Rapid MALDI-TOF Mass Spectrometry Strain Typing during a Large Outbreak of Shiga-Toxigenic Escherichia coli. PLoS ONE 9 (7), e101924.

Compton, C. W. R., Heuer, C., Parker, K. & McDougall, S. (2007). Risk Factors for Peripartum Mastitis in Pasture-Grazed Dairy Heifers. Journal of Dairy Science 90 (9), 4171-4180.

Conington, J., Cao, G., Stott, A. & Bünger, L. (2008). Breeding for resistance to mastitis in United Kingdom sheep, a review and economic appraisal. Veterinary Record 162 (12), 369-376.

Coop, R. L. & Kyriazakis, I. (1999). Nutrition–parasite interaction. Veterinary Parasitology 84 (3–4), 187-204.

Cooper, S. (2011). A study of ovine udder abnormalities: Identifying the risk factors for teat lesions, Mres Thesis; School of Life Sciences, University of Warwick, Coventry, UK.

Cooper, S., Huntley, S. J. & Green, L. E. (2013). A longitudinal study of risk factors for teat lesions in 67 suckler ewes in a single flock in England. Preventive Veterinary Medicine 110 (2), 232 - 241. Craven, N. & Williams, M. R. (1985). Defences of the bovine mammary gland against infection and prospects for their enhancement. Veterinary Immunology and Immunopathology 10 (1), 71-127. Cucarella, C., Tormo, M. Á., Úbeda, C., Trotonda, M. P., Monzón, M., Peris, C., Amorena, B., Lasa, Í. & Penadés, J. R. (2004). Role of Biofilm-Associated Protein Bap in the Pathogenesis of Bovine Staphylococcus aureus. Infection and Immunity 72 (4), 2177-2185.

da Costa, L. B., Rajala-Schultz, P. J., Hoet, A., Seo, K. S., Fogt, K. & Moon, B. S. (2014). Genetic relatedness and virulence factors of bovine Staphylococcus aureus isolated from teat skin and milk. Journal of Dairy Science 97 (11), 6907-6916.

De Bruyne, K., Slabbinck, B., Waegeman, W., Vauterin, P., De Baets, B. & Vandamme, P. (2011). Bacterial species identification from MALDI-TOF mass spectra through data analysis and machine learning. Systematic and Applied Microbiology 34 (1), 20-29.

de la Cruz, M., Serrano, E., Montoro, V., Marco, J., Romeo, M., Baselga, R., Albizu, I. & Amorena, B. (1994). Etiology and prevalence of subclinical mastitis in the Manchega sheep at mid-late lactation. Small Ruminant Research 14 (2), 175-180.

de la Fuente, L. F., Gonzalo, C., Sánchez, J., Rodríguez, R., Carriedo, J. & Primitivo, F. (2011). Genetic parameters of the linear body conformation traits and genetic correlations with udder traits, milk yield and composition, and somatic cell count in dairy ewes. Canadian Journal of Animal Science 91 (4), 585-591.

de Santis, E., Mureddu, A., Mazzette, R., Scarano, C. & Bes, M. (2005). Detection of enterotoxins and virulence genes in Staphylococcus aureus strains isolated from sheep with subclinical mastitis. In Mastitis in dairy production: current knowledge and future solutions (Hogeveen, H., ed.), pp. 504 - 510. Wageningen Academic Publishers, Wageningen the Netherlands.

De Vliegher, S., Opsomer, G., Vanrolleghem, A., Devriese, L. A., Sampimon, O. C., Sol, J., Barkema, H. W., Haesebrouck, F. & de Kruif, A. (2004). In vitro growth inhibition of major mastitis pathogens by Staphylococcus chromogenes originating from teat apices of dairy heifers. Veterinary Microbiology 101 (3), 215-221.

DEFRA (2003). (Department for Environment, Food and Rural Affairs) NADIS and Census estimates of coverage of livestock and holdings in England. Desmasures, N., Opportune, W. & Guéguen, M. (1997). Lactococcus spp., yeasts and Pseudomonas spp. on teats and udders of milking cows as potential sources of milk contamination. International Dairy Journal 7 (10), 643-646.

Dieckmann, R. & Malorny, B. (2011). Rapid Screening of Epidemiologically Important Salmonella enterica subsp. enterica Serovars by Whole-Cell MatrixAssisted Laser Desorption Ionization–Time of Flight Mass Spectrometry. Applied and Environmental Microbiology 77 (12), 4136-4146. Dohoo, I. R. & Meek, A. H. (1982). Somatic Cell Counts in Bovine Milk. The Canadian Veterinary Journal 23 (4), 119-125.

Döpfer, D., Barkema, H. W., Lam, T. J. G. M., Schukken, Y. H. & Gaastra, W. (1999). Recurrent Clinical Mastitis Caused by Escherichia coli in Dairy Cows. Journal of Dairy Science 82 (1), 80-85. dos Santos Nascimento, J., Fagundes, P. C., de Paiva Brito, M. A., dos Santos, K. R. & do Carmo de Freire Bastos, M. (2005). Production of bacteriocins by coagulase-negative staphylococci involved in bovine mastitis. Veterinary Microbiology 106 (1-2), 61-71.

Eddabra, R., Prévost, G. & Scheftel, J.-M. (2012). Rapid discrimination of environmental Vibrio by matrix-assisted laser desorption ionization time-of-flight mass spectrometry. Microbiological Research 167 (4), 226-230.

El-Saied, U. M., Carriedo, J. A. & San Primitivo, F. (1998). Heritability of Test Day Somatic Cell Counts and Its Relationship with Milk Yield and Protein Percentage in Dairy Ewes. Journal of Dairy Science 81 (11), 2956-2961.

El Behiry, A., Nabil Zahran, R., Marzouk, E. & Al-Dubaib, M. (2014). Phenotypical And Mass Spectral Assessment Methods For Identification Of Some Contagious Mastitis Pathogens. American Journal of Microbiology 5 (1), 1-10.

Ericsson Unnerstad, H., Lindberg, A., Persson Waller, K., Ekman, T., Artursson, K., Nilsson-Öst, M. & Bengtsson, B. (2009). Microbial aetiology of acute clinical mastitis and agent-specific risk factors. Veterinary Microbiology 137 (1–2), 90-97.

European Commission (1992). Directive on laying down the health rules for the production and placing on the market of raw milk, heat-treated milk and milk-based products - Directive 92/46/EEC. Official Journal of the European Union.

Fernández, G., Alvarez, P., San Primitivo, F. & de la Fuente, L. F. (1995). Factors Affecting Variation of Udder Traits of Dairy Ewes. Journal of Dairy Science 78 (4), 842-849.

Fernández, G., Baro, J. A., F., d. I. F. L. & San Primitivo, F. F. (1997). Genetic Parameters for Linear Udder Traits of Dairy Ewes. Journal of Dairy Science 80 (3), 601 - 605.

Firat, M. Z. (1993). An investigation into the effects of clinical mastitis on milk yield in dairy cows. Livestock Production Science 36 (4), 311-321.

Forbes, D. (1970). The survival of Micro-coccaceae in bovine teat canal keratin. British Veterinary Journal 126, 268 - 274.

Fournier, R., Wallet, F., Grandbastien, B., Dubreuil, L., Courcol, R., Neut, C. & Dessein, R. (2012). Chemical extraction versus direct smear for MALDI-TOF mass spectrometry identification of anaerobic bacteria. Anaerobe 18 (3), 294-297.

Fox, L. K. (1992). Colonization by Staphylococcus aureus on Chapped Teat Skin: Effect of Iodine and Chlorhexidine Postmilking Disinfectants. Journal of Dairy Science 75 (1), 66-71.

Fragkou, I. A., Dagleish, M. P., Papaioannou, N., Cripps, P. J., Boscos, C. M., Ververidis, H. N., Orfanou, D. C., Solomakos, N., Finlayson, J., Govaris, A., Kyriazakis, I. & Fthenakis, G. C. (2010). The induction of lymphoid follicle-like structures in the ovine teat duct following experimental infection with Mannheimia haemolytica. The Veterinary Journal 184 (2), 194-200.

Fragkou, I. A., Gougoulis, D. A., Billinis, C., Mavrogianni, V. S., Bushnell, M. J., Cripps, P. J.,

Tzora, A. & Fthenakis, G. C. (2011). Transmission of Mannheimia haemolytica from the tonsils of lambs to the teat of ewes during sucking. Veterinary Microbiology 148 (1), 66-74.

Fragkou, I. A., Mavrogianni, V. S., Cripps, P. J., Gougoulis, D. A. & Fthenakis, G. C. (2007a). The bacterial flora in the teat duct of ewes can protect against and can cause mastitis. Veterinary Research 38, 525 - 545.

Fragkou, I. A., Mavrogianni, V. S., Papaioannou, N., Boscos, C., Cripps, P. J., Skoufos, J. & Fthenakis, G. C. (2007b). Presence of sub-epithelial lymphoid tissues in the teat of ewe-lambs and adult ewes. Small Ruminant Research 70 (2–3), 286- 291.

Fragkou, I. A., Papaioannou, N., Cripps, P. J., Boscos, C. M. & Fthenakis, G. C. (2007c). Teat Lesions Predispose to Invasion of the Ovine Mammary Gland by Mannheimia haemolytica. Journal of Comparative Pathology 137 (4), 239-244.

Fragkou, I. A., Skoufos, J., Cripps, P. J., Kyriazakis, I., Papaioannou, N., Boscos, C. M., Tzora, A. & Fthenakis, G. C. (2007d). Differences in susceptibility to Mannheimia haemolytica-associated mastitis between two breeds of dairy sheep. Journal of Dairy Research 74 (03), 349-355.

Fthenakis, G. C. (1994). Prevalence and aetiology of subclinical mastitis in ewes of Southern Greece. Small Ruminant Research 13 (3), 293-300.

Fthenakis, G. C. & Jones, J. E. T. (1990a). The effect of experimentally induced subclinical mastitis on milk yield of ewes and on the growth of lambs. British Veterinary Journal 146 (1), 43-49.
Fthenakis, G. C. & Jones, J. E. T. (1990b). Incidence and aetiology of clinical ovine mastitis in flocks in central Macedonia (Greece). Delt. Ellen. Kten. Etair. 41, 133 -141.

Fthenakis, G. C., Leontides, L., Skoufos, J., Taitzoglou, I. A. & Tzora, A. (2004). Case report: high prevalence rate of ovine mastitis, caused by coagulase-negative staphylococci and predisposed by increased gossypol consumption. Small Ruminant Research 52 (1–2), 185-189.

Fthenakis, G. C., Saratsis, P., Tzora, A. & Linde, K. (1998). Naturally occurring subclinical ovine mastitis associated with Listeria monocytogenes. Small Ruminant Research 31 (1), 23-27.
Fujinami, Y., Kikkawa, H. S., Kurosaki, Y., Sakurada, K., Yoshino, M. & Yasuda, J. (2011). Rapid discrimination of Legionella by matrix-assisted laser desorption ionization time-of-flight mass spectrometry. Microbiological Research 166 (2), 77-86.

Ghebremedhin, B., Layer, F., König, W. & König, B. (2008). Genetic Classification and Distinguishing of Staphylococcus Species Based on Different Partial gap, 16S rRNA, hsp60, rpoB, sodA, and tuf Gene Sequences. Journal of Clinical Microbiology 46 (3), 1019-1025. Ghorbanpoor, M., Seyfiabad shapouri, M., Moatamedi, H., Jamshidian, M. & Gooraninejad, S. (2007). Comparison of PCR and bacterial culture methods for diagnosis of dairy cattle's subclinical mastitis caused by Staphylococcus aureus. Journal of Veterinary Research 62 (4), 87 - 91. Gill, J. J., Sabour, P. M., Gong, J., Yu, H., Leslie, K. E. & Griffiths, M. W. (2006). Characterization of bacterial populations recovered from the teat canals of lactating dairy and beef cattle by 16S rRNA gene sequence analysis, 56. Gillespie, B. E., Headrick, S. I., Boonyayatra, S. & Oliver, S. P. (2009). Prevalence and persistence of coagulase-negative Staphylococcus species in three dairy research herds. Veterinary Microbiology 134 (1–2), 65-72.

Gillespie, B. E. & Oliver, S. P. (2005). Simultaneous Detection of Mastitis Pathogens, Staphylococcus aureus, Streptococcus uberis, and Streptococcus agalactiae by Multiplex Real-

Time Polymerase Chain Reaction. Journal of Dairy Science 88 (10), 3510-3518.

González-RodríGuez, M. C., Gonzalo, C., San Primitivo, F. & Cármenes, P. (1995). Relationship Between Somatic Cell Count and Intramammary Infection of the Half Udder in Dairy Ewes. Journal of Dairy Science 78 (12), 2753-2759.

Gonzalez, R. N., Jasper, D. E., Kronlund, N. C., Farver, T. B., Cullor, J. S., Bushnell, R. B. & Dellinger, J. D. (1990). Clinical Mastitis in Two California Dairy Herds Participating In Contagious Mastitis Control Programs. Journal of Dairy Science 73 (3), 648-660.

Gonzalo, C., Carriedo, J. A., Blanco, M. A., Beneitez, E., Juárez, M. T., De La Fuente, L. F. & Primitivo, F. S. (2005). Factors of Variation Influencing Bulk Tank Somatic Cell Count in Dairy Sheep. Journal of Dairy Science 88 (3), 969-974.

Gougoulis, D. A., Kyriazakis, I., Papaioannou, N., Papadopoulos, E., Taitzoglou, I. A. & Fthenakis, G. C. (2008a). Subclinical mastitis changes the patterns of maternal–offspring behaviour in dairy sheep. The Veterinary Journal 176 (3), 378-384.

Gougoulis, D. A., Kyriazakis, I., Tzora, A., Taitzoglou, I. A., Skoufos, J. & Fthenakis, G. C. (2008b). Effects of Lamb Sucking on the Bacterial Flora of Teat Duct and Mammary Gland of Ewes. Reproduction in Domestic Animals 43 (1), 22-26.

Green, M. J., Bradley, A. J., Newton, H. & Browne, W. J. (2006). Seasonal variation of bulk milk somatic cell counts in UK dairy herds: Investigations of the summer rise. Preventive Veterinary Medicine 74 (4), 293-308.

Green, M. J., Green, L. E. & Cripps, P. J. (1996). Low bulk milk somatic cell counts and endotoxinassociated (toxic) mastitis. Veterinary Record 138 (13), 305-306.

Green, M. J., Green, L. E., Medley, G. F., Schukken, Y. H. & Bradley, A. J. (2002). Influence of Dry Period Bacterial Intramammary Infection on Clinical Mastitis in Dairy Cows. Journal of Dairy Science 85 (10), 2589-2599.

Gross, S. J., Pollak, E. J., Anderson, J. G. & Torell, D. T. (1978). Incidence and Importance of Subclinical Mastitis in Sheep. Journal of Animal Science 46 (1), 1-8.

Hagnestam-Nielsen, C. & Østergaard, S. (2009). Economic impact of clinical mastitis in a dairy herd assessed by stochastic simulation using different methods to model yield losses. Animal 3 (02), 315-328.

Hamann, H., Horstick, A., Wessels, A. & Distl, O. (2004). Estimation of genetic parameters for test day milk production, somatic cell score and litter size at birth in East Friesian ewes. Livestock Production Science 87 (2–3), 153-160.

Hamann, J. (2005). Diagnosis of mastitis and indicators of milk quality. In Mastitis in Dairy Production: Current Knowledge and Future Solutions (Hogeveen, H., ed.), pp. 82 – 91. Wageningen Academic Publishers, Wageningen the Netherlands.

Hardie, J. A., Bakke, P. S. & O., M. (2003). Non-response bias in a postal questionnaire survey on respiratory health in the old and very old. Scandinavian Journal of Public Health 31 (6), 411 - 417. Haveri, M., Hovinen, M., Roslöf, A. & Pyörälä, S. (2008). Molecular Types and Genetic Profiles of Staphylococcus aureus Strains Isolated from Bovine Intramammary Infections and Extramammary Sites. Journal of Clinical Microbiology 46 (11), 3728-3735.

He, Y., Xie, Y. & Reed, S. (2014). Pulsed-Field Gel Electrophoresis Typing of Staphylococcus aureus Isolates. In Methicillin-Resistant Staphylococcus Aureus (MRSA) Protocols (Ji, Y., ed.), Vol. 1085, pp. 103-111. Humana Press.

Heikens, E., Fleer, A., Paauw, A., Florijn, A. & Fluit, A. C. (2005). Comparison of Genotypic and Phenotypic Methods for Species-Level Identification of Clinical Isolates of Coagulase-Negative Staphylococci. Journal of Clinical Microbiology 43 (5), 2286-2290.

Hettick, J. M., Kashon, M. L., Slaven, J. E., Ma, Y., Simpson, J. P., Siegel, P. D., Mazurek, G. N. & Weissman, D. N. (2006). Discrimination of intact mycobacteria at the strain level: A combined MALDI-TOF MS and biostatistical analysis. Proteomics 6 (24), 6416-6425.

Hill, A. B. (1965). The Environment and Disease: Association or Causation? Proceedings of the Royal Society of Medicine 58 (5), 295-300.

Ho, A. J., Lappi, V. R. & Wiedmann, M. (2007). Longitudinal Monitoring of Listeria monocytogenes Contamination Patterns in a Farmstead Dairy Processing Facility. Journal of Dairy Science 90 (5), 2517-2524.

Hoeymans, N., Feskens, E. J. M., Van Den Bos, G. A. M. & Kromhout, D. (1998). Non-response bias in a study of cardiovascular diseases, functional status and selfrated health among elderly men. Age and Ageing 26, 35 - 40.

Hogan, J. S., Smith, K. L., Todhunter, D. A. & Schoenberger, P. S. (1988). Rate of environmental mastitis in quarters infected with Corynebacterium bovis and Staphylococcus species. Journal of Dairy Science 71 (9), 2520-5.

Hogeveen, H., Huijps, K. & Lam, T. J. G. M. (2011). Economic aspects of mastitis: New developments. New Zealand Veterinary Journal 59, 16 - 23.

Hovinen, M., Siivonen, J., Taponen, S., Hänninen, L., Pastell, M., Aisla, A. M. & Pyörälä, S. (2008). Detection of Clinical Mastitis with the Help of a Thermal Camera. Journal of Dairy Science 91 (12), 4592-4598.

Huntley, S. J., Cooper, S., Bradley, A. J. & Green, L. E. (2012). A cohort study of the associations between udder conformation, milk somatic cell count, and lamb weight in suckler ewes. Journal of Dairy Science 95 (9), 5001-5010.

Kaler, J. & Green, L. E. (2008). Naming and recognition of six foot lesions of sheep using written and pictorial information: A study of 809 English sheep farmers. Preventive Veterinary Medicine 83 (1), 52-64.

Karger, A., Ziller, M., Bettin, B., Mintel, B., Schares, S. & Geue, L. (2011). Determination of Serotypes of Shiga Toxin-Producing Escherichia coli Isolates by Intact Cell Matrix-Assisted Laser Desorption Ionization-Time of Flight Mass Spectrometry. Applied and Environmental Microbiology 77 (3), 896-905.

Kehrli, M. E. J., Nonnecke, B. J. & A., R. J. (1989). Alterations in bovine neutrophil function during the periparturient period. American Journal of Veterinary Research 50 (2), 207 - 214.

Keisler, D. H., Andrews, M. L. & Moffatt, R. J. (1992). Subclinical mastitis in ewes and its effect on lamb performance. Journal of Animal Science 70 (6), 1677-1681.

Khan, M. Z. & Khan, A. (2006). Basic facts of mastitis in dairy animals. Pakistan Veterinary Journal 26, 204 - 208.

Khot, P. D., Couturier, M. R., Wilson, A., Croft, A. & Fisher, M. A. (2012). Optimization of Matrix-Assisted Laser Desorption Ionization–Time of Flight Mass Spectrometry Analysis for Bacterial Identification. Journal of Clinical Microbiology 50 (12), 3845-3852.

Kiossis, E., Brozos, C. N., Petridou, E. & Boscos, C. (2007). Program for the control of subclinical mastitis in dairy Chios breed ewes during lactation. Small Ruminant Research 73 (1–3), 194-199. Kirk, J. H., Glenn, J. S. & Maas, J. P. (1996). Mastitis in a flock of milking sheep. Small Ruminant Research 22 (2), 187-191.

Klaas, I. C., Enevoldsen, C., Vaarst, M. & Houe, H. (2004). Systematic Clinical Examinations for Identification of Latent Udder Health Types in Danish Dairy Herds. Journal of Dairy Science 87 (5), 1217-1228.

Kloos, W. E. & Schleifer, K. H. (1986). Genus IV. Staphylococcus. Bergey's Manual of Systematic Bacteriology. Williams & Wilkins, Baltimore, pp. 1013–1035.

Knetsch, C. W., Connor, T. R., Mutreja, A., van Dorp, S. M., Sanders, I. M., Browne, H. P., Harris, D., Lipman, L., Keessen, E. C., Corver, J., Kuijper, E. J. & Lawley, T. D. (2014). Whole genome

sequencing reveals potential spread of Clostridium difficile between humans and farm animals in the Netherlands, 2002 to 2011. . Euro Surveill. 2014 19 (45), 20954.

Kooperberg, C. (2013). logspline: Logspline density estimation routines. R package version 2.1.5. http://CRAN.R-project.org/package=logspline.

Lafi, S. Q. (2006). Use of somatic cell counts and California Mastitis Test results from udder halves milk samples to detect subclinical intramammary infection in Awassi sheep. Small Ruminant Research 62 (1–2), 83-86.

Lafi, S. Q., Al-Majali, A. M., Rousan, M. D. & Alawneh, J. M. (1998). Epidemiological studies of clinical and subclinical ovine mastitis in Awassi sheep in northern Jordan. Preventive Veterinary Medicine 33 (1–4), 171-181.

Lam, T. J., Lipman, L. J., Schukken, Y. H., Gaastra, W. & Brand, A. (1996). Epidemiological characteristics of bovine clinical mastitis caused by Staphylococcus aureus and Escherichia coli studied by DNA fingerprinting. American Journal of Veterinary Research 57 (1), 39-42.

Larry Smith, K., Todhunter, D. A. & Schoenberger, P. S. (1985). Environmental Pathogens and Intramammary Infection During the Dry Period. Journal of Dairy Science 68 (2), 402-417.

Larsgard, A. G. & Vaabenoe, A. (1993). Genetic and environmental causes of variation in mastitis in sheep. Small Ruminant Research 12 (3), 339-347.

Las Heras, A., Vela, A. I., Fernández, E., Legaz, E., Domínguez, L. & FernándezGarayzábal, J. F. (2002). Unusual Outbreak of Clinical Mastitis in Dairy Sheep Caused by Streptococcus equi subsp. zooepidemicus. Journal of Clinical Microbiology 40 (3), 1106-1108.

Legarra, A. & Ugarte, E. (2005). Genetic Parameters of Udder Traits, Somatic Cell Score, and Milk Yield in Latxa Sheep. Journal of Dairy Science 88 (6), 2238-2245.

Lipman, L. J. A., de Nijs, A., Lam, T. J. G. M. & Gaastra, W. (1995). Identification of Escherichia coli strains from cows with clinical mastitis by serotyping and DNA polymorphism patterns with REP and ERIC primers. Veterinary Microbiology 43 (1), 13-19.

Madouasse, A., Huxley, J. N., Browne, W. J., Bradley, A. J. & Green, M. J. (2010). Somatic cell count dynamics in a large sample of dairy herds in England and Wales. Preventive Veterinary Medicine 96 (1–2), 56-64.

Marcos, J. Y., Soriano, A. C., Salazar, M. S., Moral, C. H., Ramos, S. S., Smeltzer, M. S. & Carrasco, G. N. (1999). Rapid Identification and Typing of Staphylococcus aureus by PCR-Restriction Fragment Length Polymorphism Analysis of the aroA Gene. Journal of Clinical Microbiology 37 (3), 570-574.

Marie-Etancelin, C., Astruc, J. M., Porte, D., Larroque, H. & Robert-Granié, C. (2005). Multiple-trait genetic parameters and genetic evaluation of udder-type traits in Lacaune dairy ewes. Livestock Production Science 97 (2–3), 211-218.

Marogna, G., Rolesu, S., Lollai, S., Tola, S. & Leori, G. (2010). Clinical findings in sheep farms affected by recurrent bacterial mastitis. Small Ruminant Research 88 (2–3), 119-125.

Matthews, K. R., Harmon, R. J. & Smith, B. A. (1990). Protective Effect of Staphylococcus chromogenes Infection Against Staphylococcus aureus Infection in the Lactating Bovine Mammary Gland1. Journal of Dairy Science 73 (12), 3457-3462.

Mavrogenis, A. P., Koumas, A. & Gavrielidis, G. (1999). The inheritance of somatic cell counts (index if mastitis) in Chios sheep. Milking and milk production of dairy sheep and goats; EAAP Publication (Barillet, F., Deligeorgis, S., Zervas, N. P., Boyazoglu, J. G. & F., V., Eds.), 95. Mavrogenis, A. P., Koumas, A., Kakoyiannis, C. K. & Taliotis, C. H. (1995). Use of somatic cell counts for the detection of subclinical mastitis in sheep. Small Ruminant Research 17 (1), 79-84. Mavrogianni, V. S., Cripps, P. J. & Fthenakis, G. C. (2006a). Description and validation of a novel technique to study the bacterial flora of the teat duct of ewes. Small Ruminant Research 66 (1–3), 258-264.

Mavrogianni, V. S., Cripps, P. J., Papaioannou, N., Taitzoglou, I. & Fthenakis, G. C. (2006b). Teat disorders predispose ewes to clinical mastitis after challenge with Mannheimia haemolytica. Veterinary Research 37 (1), 89-105.

Mavrogianni, V. S., Cripps, P. J., Tzora, A., Skoufos, I. & Fthenakis, G. C. (2006c). Effects of hand milking on the bacterial flora of mammary gland and teat duct of ewes. Journal of Dairy Research 73 (03), 353-356.

Mavrogianni, V. S., Fthenakis, G. C., Brooks, H., Papaioannou, N., Cripps, P. J., Taitzoglou, I., Brellou, G. & Saratsis, P. (2005). The effects of inoculation of Mannheimia haemolytica into the teat of lactating ewes. Veterinary Research 36 (1), 13-25.

McDonald, J. S. & Anderson, A. J. (1981). Experimental intramammary infection of the dairy cow with Escherichia coli during the nonlactating period. American Journal of Veterinary Research 42 (2), 229-31.

McDougal, L. K., Steward, C. D., Killgore, G. E., Chaitram, J. M., McAllister, S. K. & Tenover, F. C. (2003). Pulsed-Field Gel Electrophoresis Typing of OxacillinResistant Staphylococcus aureus Isolates from the United States: Establishing a National Database. Journal of Clinical Microbiology 41 (11), 5113-5120.

McDougall, S., Parkinson, T. J., Leyland, M., Anniss, F. M. & Fenwick, S. G. (2004). Duration of Infection and Strain Variation in Streptococcus uberis Isolated from Cows' Milk. Journal of Dairy Science 87 (7), 2062-2072.

Meador, V. P. (1988). Pathogenesis of mammary gland infection in the goat (Capra hircus) inoculated with Brucella abortus, Iowa State University; Retrospective Theses and Dissertations. Paper 8872.

Moothoo-Padayachie, A., Kandappa, H., Krishna, S., Maier, T. & Govender, P. (2013). Biotyping Saccharomyces cerevisiae strains using matrix-assisted laser desorption/ionization time-of-flight mass spectrometry (MALDI-TOF MS). European Food Research and Technology 236 (2), 351-364.

Mørk, T., Jørgensen, H. J., Sunde, M., Kvitle, B., Sviland, S., Waage, S. & Tollersrud, T. (2012a). Persistence of staphylococcal species and genotypes in the bovine udder. Veterinary Microbiology 159 (1–2), 171-180.

Mørk, T., Kvitle, B. & Jørgensen, H. J. (2012b). Reservoirs of Staphylococcus aureus in meat sheep and dairy cattle. Veterinary Microbiology 155 (1), 81-87.

Mørk, T., Waage, S., Tollersrud, T., Kvitle, B. & Sviland, S. (2007). Clinical mastitis in ewes; bacteriology, epidemiology and clinical features. Acta Veterinaria Scandinavica 49 (1), 23-23. Murayama, O., Matsuda, M. & Moore, J. E. (2003). Studies on the genomic heterogeneity of Micrococcus luteus strains by macro-restriction analysis using pulsed-field gel electrophoresis. Journal of Basic Microbiology 43 (4), 337-340.

Nagy, E., Urbán, E., Becker, S., Kostrzewa, M., Vörös, A., Hunyadkürti, J. & Nagy, I. (2013). MALDI-TOF MS fingerprinting facilitates rapid discrimination of phylotypes I, II and III of Propionibacterium acnes. Anaerobe 20 (0), 20-26.

Ndegwa, E. N., Mulei, C. M. & Munyua, S. J. M. (2000). Risk Factors Associated with Subclinical Subacute Mastitis inKenyan Dairy Goats. Israel Journal of Verterinary Medicine 56 (1).

Neave, F. K., Dodd, F. H., Kingwill, R. G. & Westgarth, D. R. (1969). Control of Mastitis in the Dairy Herd by Hygiene and Management. Journal of Dairy Science 52 (5), 696-707.

Nickerson, S. C. & Boddie, R. L. (1994). Effect of naturally occurring coagulasenegative staphylococcal infections on experimental challenge with major mastitis pathogens. Journal of Dairy Science 77 (9), 2526-36.

Nieminen, T., Rintaluoma, N., Andersson, M., Taimisto, A. M., Ali-Vehmas, T., Seppälä, A., Priha, O. & Salkinoja-Salonen, M. (2007). Toxinogenic Bacillus pumilus and Bacillus licheniformis from mastitic milk. Veterinary Microbiology 124 (3–4), 329-339.

Olde Riekerink, R. G. M., Barkema, H. W., Kelton, D. F. & Scholl, D. T. (2008). Incidence Rate of Clinical Mastitis on Canadian Dairy Farms. Journal of Dairy Science 91 (4), 1366 - 1377.

Oliver, S. P., Gillespie, B. E. & Jayarao, B. M. (1998). Detection of new and persistent Streptococcus uberis and Streptococcus dysgalactiae intramammary infections by polymerase chain reaction-based DNA fingerprinting. FEMS Microbiology Letters 160 (1), 69-73.

Oliver, S. P. & M., S. L. (1988). Udder health in the periparturient period. Journal of dairy science 71 (9), 2584 - 2606.

Oliver, S. P. & Mitchell, B. A. (1983). Susceptibility of Bovine Mammary Gland to Infections During the Dry Period. Journal of Dairy Science 66 (5), 1162-1166.

Onnasch, H. (2000). A Study of Mastitis in Irish Sheep. MS Thesis. Faculty of Veterinary Medicine. Dublin: University College Dublin.

Onni, T., Sanna, G., Cubeddu, G. P., Marogna, G., Lollai, S., Leori, G. & Tola, S. (2010). Identification of coagulase-negative staphylococci isolated from ovine milk samples by PCR–RFLP of 16S rRNA and gap genes. Veterinary Microbiology 144 (3–4), 347-352. Osman, K. M., El-Enbaawy, M. I., Ezzeldeen, N. A. & Hussein, H. M. (2009). Mastitis in dairy buffalo and cattle in Egypt due to Clostridium perfringens: prevalence, incidence, risk factors and costs. Revue scientifique et technique 28 (3), 975-86.

Othmane, M. H., De La Fuente, L. F., Carriedo, J. A. & San Primitivo, F. (2002). Heritability and Genetic Correlations of Test Day Milk Yield and Composition, Individual Laboratory Cheese Yield, and Somatic Cell Count for Dairy Ewes. Journal of Dairy Science 85 (10), 2692-2698.

Oviedo-Boyso, J., Valdez-Alarcón, J. J., Cajero-Juárez, M., Ochoa-Zarzosa, A., López-Meza, J. E., Bravo-Patiño, A. & Baizabal-Aguirre, V. M. (2007). Innate immune response of bovine mammary gland to pathogenic bacteria responsible for mastitis. Journal of Infection 54 (4), 399-409.

Oxoid (2014a). Culture Media Supplements: Edwards Medium Modified; Material Safety data sheet; Avaiable at:

http://www.oxoid.com/UK/blue/prod\_detail/prod\_detail.asp?pr=CM0027&org=137&c=UK&lang=EN. Oxoid (2014b). Culture Media Supplements: MacConkey Agar; Material Safety data sheet; Avaiable at:

http://www.oxoid.com/uk/blue/prod\_detail/prod\_detail.asp?pr=CM0007&org=153&c=uk&lang=en. Oxoid (2014c). Culture Media Supplements: Sheep Blood, Defibrinated; Material Safety data sheet; Available at:

http://www.oxoid.com/UK/blue/prod\_detail/prod\_detail.asp?pr=SR0051&c=UK&lang=EN. Parker, K. I., Compton, C., Anniss, F. M., Weir, A., Heuer, C. & McDougall, S. (2007). Subclinical and Clinical Mastitis in Heifers Following the Use of a Teat Sealant Precalving. Journal of Dairy Science 90 (1), 207-218.

Peeler, E. J., Green, M. J., Fitzpatrick, J. L. & Green, L. E. (2003). The association between quarter somatic-cell counts and clinical mastitis in three British dairy herds. Preventive Veterinary Medicine 59 (3), 169-180.

Pellegrino, M., Giraudo, J., Raspanti, C., Odierno, L. & Bogni, C. (2010). Efficacy of immunization against bovine mastitis using a Staphylococcus aureus avirulent mutant vaccine. Vaccine 28 (28), 4523-4528.

Pengov, A. (2001). The Role of Coagulase-Negative Staphylococcus spp. And Associated Somatic Cell Counts in the Ovine Mammary Gland. Journal of Dairy Science 84 (3), 572-574.

Pérez-Cabal, M. Á., Legaz, E., Cervantes, I., de la Fuente, L. F., Martínez, R., F., G. & Gutiérrez, J. P. (2013). Association between body and udder morphological traits and dairy performance in Spanish Assaf sheep. Archiv Tierzucht 56 (42), 430 - 442.

Philpot, W. N. & Pankey Jr, J. W. (1975). Hygiene in the Prevention of Udder Infections III. Effectiveness of 59 Teat Dips for Reducing Bacterial Populations on Teat Skin. Journal of Dairy Science 58 (2), 209-216.

Phuektes, P., Mansell, P. D. & Browning, G. F. (2001). Multiplex Polymerase Chain Reaction Assay for Simultaneous Detection of Staphylococcus aureus and Streptococcal Causes of Bovine Mastitis. Journal of Dairy Science 84 (5), 1140-1148. Piccinini, R., Cesaris, L., Daprà, V., Borromeo, V., Picozzi, C., Secchi, C. & Zecconi, A. (2009). The role of teat skin contamination in the epidemiology of Staphylococcus aureus intramammary infections. Journal of Dairy Research 76 (01), 36-41.

Piessens, V., De Vliegher, S., Verbist, B., Braem, G., Van Nuffel, A., De Vuyst, L., Heyndrickx, M. & Van Coillie, E. (2012). Characterization of coagulase-negative staphylococcus species from cows' milk and environment based on bap, icaA, and mecA genes and phenotypic susceptibility to antimicrobials and teat dips. Journal of Dairy Science 95 (12), 7027-7038.

Pinzón-Sánchez, C., Cabrera, V. E. & Ruegg, P. L. (2011). Decision tree analysis of treatment strategies for mild and moderate cases of clinical mastitis occurring in early lactation. Journal of Dairy Science 94 (4), 1873-1892.

Pinzón-Sánchez, C. & Ruegg, P. L. (2011). Risk factors associated with short-term post-treatment outcomes of clinical mastitis. Journal of Dairy Science 94 (7), 3397-3410.

Pyörälä, S. & Taponen, S. (2009). Coagulase-negative staphylococci—Emerging mastitis pathogens. Veterinary Microbiology 134 (1–2), 3-8.

R Core Team (2013). R: A Language and Environment for Statistical Computing, R Foundation for Statistical Computing, Vienna, Austria. Available at:http://www.Rproject.org.

Rainard, P. & Poutrel, B. (1988). Effect of naturally occurring intramammary infections by minor pathogens on new infections by major pathogens in cattle. American Journal of Veterinary Research 49 (3), 327-9.

Rajala-Schultz, P. J., Torres, A. H., DeGraves, F. J., Gebreyes, W. A. & Patchanee, P. (2009). Antimicrobial resistance and genotypic characterization of coagulasenegative staphylococci over the dry period. Veterinary Microbiology 134 (1–2), 55-64.

Reil, M., Erhard, M., Kuijper, E. J., Kist, M., Zaiss, H., Witte, W., Gruber, H. & Borgmann, S. (2011). Recognition of Clostridium difficile PCR-ribotypes 001, 027 and 126/078 using an extended MALDI-TOF MS system. European Journal of Clinical Microbiology & Infectious Diseases 30 (11), 1431-1436.

Rendos, J. J., Eberhart, R. J. & Kesler, E. M. (1975). Microbial Populations of Teat Ends of Dairy Cows, and Bedding Materials. Journal of Dairy Science 58 (10), 1492-1500.

Rettinger, A., Krupka, I., Grünwald, K., Dyachenko, V., Fingerle, V., Konrad, R., Raschel, H., Busch, U., Sing, A., Straubinger, R. K. & Huber, I. (2012). Leptospira spp. strain identification by MALDI TOF MS is an equivalent tool to 16S rRNA gene sequencing and multi locus sequence typing (MLST). BMC Microbiology 12, 185-185.

Riffon, R., Sayasith, K., Khalil, H., Dubreuil, P., Drolet, M. & Lagacé, J. (2001). Development of a Rapid and Sensitive Test for Identification of Major Pathogens in Bovine Mastitis by PCR. Journal of Clinical Microbiology 39 (7), 2584-2589.

Riggio, V., Finocchiaro, R., van Kaam, J. B. C. H. M., Portolano, B. & Bovenhuis, H. (2007). Genetic Parameters for Milk Somatic Cell Score and Relationships with Production Traits in Primiparous Dairy Sheep. Journal of Dairy Science 90 (4), 1998-2003. Roberson, J. R., Fox, L. K., Hancock, D. D., Gay, J. M. & Besser, T. E. (1994). Ecology of Staphylococcus aureus Isolated from Various Sites on Dairy Farms. Journal of Dairy Science 77 (11), 3354-3364.

Rogolsky, M. (1979). Nonenteric toxins of Staphylococcus aureus. Microbiological Reviews 43 (3), 320-360.

Rue, H., Martino, S. & Chopin, N. (2009). Approximate bayesian inference for latentgaussian models by using integrated nested laplace approximations. Journal of the Royal Statistical Society 71 (2), 319 - 392.

Rupp, R., Bergonier, D., Dion, S., Hygonenq, M. C., Aurel, M. R., Robert-Granié, C. & Foucras, G. (2009). Response to somatic cell count-based selection for mastitis resistance in a divergent selection experiment in sheep. Journal of Dairy Science 92 (3), 1203-1219.

Rupp, R. & Boichard, D. (2000). Relationship of early first lactation somatic cell count with risk of subsequent first clinical mastitis. Livestock Production Science 62 (2), 169-180.

Rupp, R., Lagriffoul, G., Astruc, J. M. & Barillet, F. (2003). Genetic Parameters for Milk Somatic Cell Scores and Relationships with Production Traits in French Lacaune Dairy Sheep. Journal of Dairy Science 86 (4), 1476-1481.

Ruud, L. E., Bøe, K. E. & Østerås, O. (2010). Associations of soft flooring materials in free stalls with milk yield, clinical mastitis, teat lesions, and removal of dairy cows. Journal of Dairy Science 93 (4), 1578 - 1586.

Salkinoja-Salonen, M. S., Vuorio, R., Andersson, M. A., Kämpfer, P., Andersson, M. C., Honkanen-Buzalski, T. & Scoging, A. C. (1999). Toxigenic Strains of Bacillus licheniformis Related to Food Poisoning. Applied and Environmental Microbiology 65 (10), 4637-4645.

Saratsis, P., Alexopoulos, C., Tzora, A. & Fthenakis, G. C. (1999). The effect of experimentally induced subclinical mastitis on the milk yield of dairy ewes. Small Ruminant Research 32 (3), 205-209.

Saratsis, P., Leontides, L., Tzora, A., Alexopoulos, C. & Fthenakis, G. C. (1998). Incidence risk and aetiology of mammary abnormalities in dry ewes in 10 flocks in Southern Greece. Preventive Veterinary Medicine 37 (1–4), 173-183.

Scaltriti, E., Sassera, D., Comandatore, F., Morganti, M., Mandalari, C., Gaiarsa, S., Bandi, C., Zehender, G., Bolzoni, L., Casadei, G. & Pongolini, S. (2015). Differential single nucleotide polymorphism analysis of an outbreak caused by Salmonella enterica serovar Manhattan reveals epidemiological details missed by standard Pulsed-Field Gel Electrophoresis. Journal of Clinical Microbiology.

Scott, M. J. & Jones, J. E. T. (1998). The carriage of Pasteurella haemolytica in sheep and its transfer between ewes and lambs in relation to mastitis. Journal of Comparative Pathology 118 (4), 359-363.

Serrano, M., Pérez-Guzmán, M. D., Montoro, V. & Jurado, J. J. (2002). Genetic analysis of udder traits in Manchega ewes. Livestock Production Science 77 (2–3), 355-361.

Serrano, M., Pérez-Guzmán, M. D., Montoro, V. & Jurado, J. J. (2003). Genetic analysis of somatic cell count and milk traits in Manchega ewes: Mean lactation and test-day approaches. Livestock Production Science 84 (1), 1-10.

Sevi, A., Massa, S., Annicchiarico, G., Dell'Aquila, S. & Muscio, A. (1999). Effect of stocking density on ewes' milk yield, udder health and microenvironment. The Journal of Dairy Research 66 (4), 489 - 499.

Shome, B. R., Das Mitra, S., Bhuvana, M., Krithiga, N., Velu, D., Shome, R., Isloor, S., Barbuddhe, S. B. & Rahman, H. (2011). Multiplex PCR assay for species identification of bovine mastitis pathogens. Journal of Applied Microbiology 111 (6), 1349-1356.

Sieber, R. L. & Farnsworth, R. J. (1984). Differential diagnosis of bovine teat lesions. The Veterinary Clinics of North America. Large animal practice 6 (2), 313 - 321.

Siegrist, T. J., Anderson, P. D., Huen, W. H., Kleinheinz, G. T., McDermott, C. M. & Sandrin, T. R. (2007). Discrimination and characterization of environmental strains of Escherichia coli by matrix-assisted laser desorption/ionization time-offlight mass spectrometry (MALDI-TOF-MS). Journal of Microbiological Methods 68 (3), 554-562.

Sigma-Aldrich (2014). Brain Heart Infusion Broth Material Safety Data Sheet. Available at http://www.sigmaaldrich.com/catalog/product/fluka/53286?lang=en&region=GB.

Sintchenko, V., Iredell, J. R. & Gilbert, G. L. (2007). Pathogen profiling for disease management and surveillance. Nature Reviews Microbiology 5 (6), 464-470.

Snyder, L. A., Loman, N. J., Faraj, L. A., Levi, K., Weinstock, G., Boswell, T. C., Pallen, M. J. & Ala'Aldeen, D. A. (2013). Epidemiological investigation of Pseudomonas aeruginosa isolates from a six-year-long hospital outbreak using highthroughput whole genome sequencing. Euro Surveill. 2014 18 (42), 20611.

Sordillo, L. & Streicher, K. (2002). Mammary Gland Immunity and Mastitis Susceptibility. Journal of Mammary Gland Biology and Neoplasia 7 (2), 135-146.

Spiegelhalter, D. J., Best, N. G., Carlin, B. P. & van der Linde, A. (2002). Bayesian measures of model complexity and fit. Journal of the Royal Statistical Society, Series B 64 (4), 583 - 639. Stefanakis, A., Boscos, C., Alexopoulos, C. & Samartzi, F. (1995). Frequency of subclinical mastitis and observations on somatic cell counts in ewes' milk in northern Greece. Animal Science 61 (01), 69-76.

Stephan, R., Cernela, N., Ziegler, D., Pflüger, V., Tonolla, M., Ravasi, D., Fredriksson-Ahomaa, M. & Hächler, H. (2011). Rapid species specific identification and subtyping of Yersinia enterocolitica by MALDI-TOF Mass spectrometry. Journal of Microbiological Methods 87 (2), 150-153.

Stucki, D., Ballif, M., Bodmer, T., Coscolla, M., Maurer, A.-M., Droz, S., Butz, C., Borrell, S.,
Längle, C., Feldmann, J., Furrer, H., Mordasini, C., Helbling, P., Rieder, H. L., Egger, M., Gagneux,
S. & Fenner, L. (2014). Tracking a Tuberculosis Outbreak Over 21 Years: Strain-Specific Single-Nucleotide Polymorphism Typing Combined With Targeted Whole-Genome Sequencing. Journal of Infectious Diseases. Supré, K., De Vliegher, S., Cleenwerck, I., Engelbeen, K., Van Trappen, S., Piepers, S., Sampimon, O. C., Zadoks, R. N., De Vos, P. & Haesebrouck, F. (2010). Staphylococcus devriesei sp. nov., isolated from teat apices and milk of dairy cows. International Journal of Systematic and Evolutionary Microbiology 60 (12), 2739-2744.

Taponen, S., Simojoki, H., Haveri, M., Larsen, H. D. & Pyörälä, S. (2006). Clinical characteristics and persistence of bovine mastitis caused by different species of coagulase-negative staphylococci identified with API or AFLP. Veterinary Microbiology 115 (1–3), 199-207.

Tenover, F. C., Arbeit, R. D., Goering, R. V., Mickelsen, P. A., Murray, B. E., Persing, D. H. & Swaminathan, B. (1995). Interpreting chromosomal DNA restriction patterns produced by pulsed-field gel electrophoresis: criteria for bacterial strain typing. Journal of Clinical Microbiology 33 (9), 2233-9.

Thrusfield, M. (2013). Veterinary Epidemiology, Elsevier. Todhunter, D. A., Smith, K. L. & Hogan, J. S. (1995). Environmental Streptococcal Intramammary Infections of the Bovine Mammary Gland. Journal of Dairy Science 78 (11), 2366-2374.

Tolone, M., Riggio, V. & Portolano, B. (2013). Estimation of genetic and phenotypic parameters for bacteriological status of the udder, somatic cell score, and milk yield in dairy sheep using a threshold animal model. Livestock Science 151 (2–3), 134-139.

Trinidad, P., Nickerson, S. C. & Alley, T. K. (1990). Prevalence of Intramammary Infection and Teat Canal Colonization In Unbred and Primigravid Dairy Heifers1. Journal of Dairy Science 73 (1), 107-114.

Tzora, A. & Fthenakis, G. C. (1998). Mastitis in dairy ewes associated with Serratia macrescens. Small Ruminant Research 29 (1), 125-126.

Vacheyrou, M., Normand, A. C., Guyot, P., Cassagne, C., Piarroux, R. & Bouton, Y. (2011). Cultivable microbial communities in raw cow milk and potential transfers from stables of sixteen French farms. International Journal of Food Microbiology 146 (3), 253-62.

Valentine, N., Wunschel, S., Wunschel, D., Petersen, C. & Wahl, K. (2005). Effect of Culture Conditions on Microorganism Identification by Matrix-Assisted Laser Desorption Ionization Mass Spectrometry. Applied and Environmental Microbiology 71 (1), 58-64.

Vargha, M., Takáts, Z., Konopka, A. & Nakatsu, C. H. (2006). Optimization of MALDI-TOF MS for strain level differentiation of Arthrobacter isolates. Journal of Microbiological Methods 66 (3), 399-409.

Vautor, E., Abadie, G., Guibert, J. M., Chevalier, N. & Pépin, M. (2005a). Nasal carriage of Staphylococcus aureus in dairy sheep. Veterinary Microbiology 106 (3–4), 235-239.

Vautor, E., Abadie, G., Guibert, J. M., Huard, C. & Pépin, M. (2003). Genotyping of Staphylococcus aureus isolated from various sites on farms with dairy sheep using pulsed-field gel electrophoresis. Veterinary Microbiology 96 (1), 69-79.

Vautor, E., Jay, C., Chevalier, N., Visomblin, N., Vernet, G. & Pépin, M. (2005b). Characterization of 26 Isolates of Staphylococcus Aureus, Predominantly from Dairy Sheep, Using Four Different

Techniques of Molecular Epidemiology. Journal of Veterinary Diagnostic Investigation 17 (4), 363-368.

Vissers, M. M. M., Driehuis, F., Te Giffel, M. C., De Jong, P. & Lankveld, J. M. G. (2007). Short Communication: Quantification of the Transmission of Microorganisms to Milk via Dirt Attached to the Exterior of Teats. Journal of Dairy Science 90 (8), 3579-3582.

Waage, S. & Vatn, S. (2008). Individual animal risk factors for clinical mastitis in meat sheep in Norway. Preventive Veterinary Medicine 87 (3–4), 229-243.

Waller, K. P., Aspán, A., Nyman, A., Persson, Y. & Grönlund Andersson, U. (2011). CNS species and antimicrobial resistance in clinical and subclinical bovine mastitis. Veterinary Microbiology 152 (1–2), 112-116.

Waller, K. P., Bengtsson, B., Lindberg, A., Nyman, A. & Unnerstad, H. E. (2009). Incidence of mastitis and bacterial findings at clinical mastitis in Swedish primiparous cows—Influence of breed and stage of lactation. Veterinary Microbiology 134 (1-2), 89 - 94.

Watkins, G. H., Burriel, A. R. & Jones, J. E. T. (1991). A field investigation of subclinical mastitis in sheep in southern England. British Veterinary Journal 147 (5), 413-420.

Watson, D. J. & Buswell, J. F. (1984). Modern aspects of sheep mastitis. British Veterinary Journal 140 (6), 529-534.

Watson, D. L., Franklin, N. A., Davies, H. I., Kettlewell, P. & Frost, A. J. (1990). Survey of intramammary infections in ewes on the New England Tableland of New South Wales. Australian Veterinary Journal 67 (1), 6-8.

Watts, J. L. (1988). Etiological agents of bovine mastitis. Veterinary Microbiology 16 (1), 41-66. White, L. J., Evans, N. D., Lam, T. J. G. M., Schukken, Y. H., Medley, G. F., Godfrey, K. R. & Chappell, M. J. (2001). The structural identifiability and parameter estimation of a multispecies model for the transmission of mastitis in dairy cows. Mathematical Biosciences 174 (2), 77-90. Win-Episcope-2 (2010). Computer-aided in Learning In Veterinary Education (CLIVE), University of Edinburgh. Available at:

http://www.clive.ed.ac.uk/cliveCatalogueItem.asp?id=B6BC9009-C10F-4393-A22D-48F436516AC4.

Winter, A. (2001). Mastitis in ewes. In Practice 23 (3), 160-163. Winter, P. & Colditz, I. G. (2002).
Immunological responses of the lactating ovine udder following experimental challenge with
Staphylococcus epidermidis. Veterinary Immunology and Immunopathology 89 (1–2), 57-65.
Wolters, M., Rohde, H., Maier, T., Belmar-Campos, C., Franke, G., Scherpe, S., Aepfelbacher, M.
& Christner, M. (2011). MALDI-TOF MS fingerprinting allows for discrimination of major methicillin-resistant Staphylococcus aureus lineages. International Journal of Medical Microbiology 301 (1), 64-68.

Zadoks, R. N., Allore, H. G., Barkema, H. W., Sampimon, O. C., Wellenberg, G. J., Gröhn, Y. T. & Schukken, Y. H. (2001). Cow- and Quarter-Level Risk Factors for Streptococcus uberis and Staphylococcus aureus Mastitis. Journal of Dairy Science 84 (12), 2649-2663.

Zadoks, R. N. & Fitzpatrick, J. L. (2009). Changing trends in mastitis. Irish Veterinary Journal 62 (Suppl 4), S59-S70.

Zadoks, R. N., van Leeuwen, W. B., Kreft, D., Fox, L. K., Barkema, H. W., Schukken, Y. H. & van Belkum, A. (2002). Comparison of Staphylococcus aureus Isolates from Bovine and Human Skin, Milking Equipment, and Bovine Milk by Phage Typing, Pulsed-Field Gel Electrophoresis, and Binary Typing. Journal of Clinical Microbiology 40 (11), 3894-3902.

Zdanowicz, M., Shelford, J. A., Tucker, C. B., Weary, D. M. & von Keyserlingk, M. A. G. (2004). Bacterial Populations on Teat Ends of Dairy Cows Housed in Free Stalls and Bedded with Either Sand or Sawdust. Journal of Dairy Science 87 (6), 1694-1701.

Zhong, W., Shou, Y., Yoshida, T. M. & Marrone, B. L. (2007). Differentiation of Bacillus anthracis,B. cereus, and B. thuringiensis by Using Pulsed-Field Gel Electrophoresis. Applied andEnvironmental Microbiology 73 (10), 3446-3449.